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The Directors present therr Annual Report and Accounts for the year to 31 March 2016 NRAM pic (NRAM' or 'the
Company') 15 a public imited company which was incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006 and is
registered in England and Wales The Company and its subsidiary undertakings compnse the NRAM plc Group ('the
Group')

Overview

The Group and Company pnmarily operates as a servicer of mortgage loans secured on residential properties and of
associated services No new lending 1s carned out

On 1 October 2010 UK Asset Resolution Limited (UKAR') was established as the holding company for NRAM & Bradford &
Bingley ple (B&B"), banging together the two brands under shared management and a common Board of Directors

NRAM was taken into public ownership on 22 February 2008 Dunng 2007 and 2008 loan faciities to the Company were put
n place by the Bank of England all of which were novated to Her Majesty's Treasury (‘HM Treasury') on 28 August 2008

On 28 October 2009 the European Commission approved State aid to the Company confirming the facilities provided by HM
Treasury, thereby removing the matenal uncertainty over the Company's ability to continue as a going concern which
previously existed

Following the completion of legal and capital restructuring on 1 January 2010, the Company no longer operates as a deposit
taking inshiution under the supervision of the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA') It 1s now regulated by the FCA as a
mortgage administration company and the Directors beleve it has appropriate and adequate levels of capital to support
these activities

In November 2015 UKAR announced the sale of £13bn of loans from NRAM to affilates of Cerberus Capital Management
LP (‘Cerberus’) The structure of the transaction means that Cerberus purchased NRAM plc after the financial year-end on 5
May 2016 Pnor to the sale, assets and liabilities not included in the transaction transferred from NRAM plc to a newly
established subsidiary of UKAR, known as NRAM (No 1) Limited For further details see note 38 — Events after the reporting
penod

On 4 May 2016 it was announced that UKAR had signed a seven year contract with Computershare for the outsourcing of
mortgage servicing operations On commencement of the outsourcing arrangement around 1,700 colleagues will transfer to
Computershare

The overall aim of UKAR 15 to maxmise value for the taxpayer This will be achieved by focusing on key actvities and
themes based on each of the following three objectives

« reduce, protect and optimise the Batance Sheet,
+ to maxamise cost effectiveness and efficiency through continuous improvement, and
* to be excellent in customer and debt management

These objectives are underpinned by the need to treat ali stakeholders fairly

Following the acquisition of 100% of the shares of the Company by a Cerberus affilate on 5 May 2016, the new Direclors
have an expectation of the Company to carry on as a servicer of mortgage loans secured on residential properties and of
associated services The beneficial title to all the mortgage loans had been transferred outside of the Company following the
events descrnbed in the above paragraphs As the Company does not have a servicing platform, the servicing of mortgage
loans had been sub-delegated to an outsourced mortgage servicing supplier

The new aim of NRAM plc 1s to focus on ensunng that the sub-delegated morigage servicing standards are of satisfactory
qualty and are sufficiently robust to meet the FCA regulatory requirements

Highlights of 2015/16

During the year we have made significant progress aganst all our key objectives and overall mission of maximising value for
the taxpayer The key highlights are

« Balance Sheet reduced by a further £22 Qbn bringing the total reduction to £57 2bn, 82% since formation of UKAR
in 2010
Total payments of £6 5bn made to taxpayers for the year, including £6 2bn loan repayments
Mortgage accounts three or more months in arrears, including possessions, have reduced by 58% since March
201510 3,674

s Underlying profit before tax of £618 9m i1s down by 31% but in kne with expectations and reflects reducing
morigage balances dnven by loan sales and customer redemptions

» Release of the remediation prowision of £268 3m relating to unsecured loans greater than £25k, following the Court
of Appeal ruling in July 2015

+« Completed the sale of ¢ £13bn customer loans to Cerberus

s Balance Sheet significantly simphfied with the two remaining secured funding structures either repaid in full or now
in a position to wind-up in the next three months

NRAM :
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Key performance indicators (‘'KPIs')

In addition to the pnmary Financial Statements, we have adopted the following KPls in managing business performance in
the context of its strategic prionties

S‘Fat?.g'c Financial measures March 2016 March 2015 Commentary
priorities
Optimise the Total lending balances £bn 106 254 Lending balances reduced by 587%
Balance Sheet | Secured £bn 102 243  dunng the year due to £11 7bn of asset
Unsecured £bn 04 11 sales, £2 8bn of residential redemptions,
£0 1bn of unsecured loan redemptions
and £0 3bn of other capital repayments
Residential mortgage redemption rate % 115 117 Redemption rates have decreased
Residentiat redemptions £bn 28 35 comparad to 2015 with increases in house
pnces Improved levels of remorigage
activity across the market and more
compettive deals betng avallable, being
more than offset by the impact of asset
sales
Govemment loan repayments £bn 62 13 £62bn  was repad aganst the
Govemnment ioan balance £bn 75 138 government loan The main dnver of the
increase Is the £13 0bn asset sale which
enabled a repayment of £5 Obn from the
transaction proceeds, after repaying the
Granite secuntisation habilies
Total cash payments to HM Treasury £bn 65 18  Total cash paid to HM Treasury dunng the
year This includes pnncipal and interest
repayments, guarantee fees and
corporation tax pad The mam dnver of
the increase 1s the higher repayments of
foan pnncipal as explained above
Mmimise Residential arrears balance total This represents the value of customers’
impairment residential mortgage balance % 033 030 missed payments as a proportion of the
and losses Residential payments overdue £m 334 713  total balance of all residential mortgages
The increase largely reflects the mix of
residential [oans sold
Reswdential arrears 3 months and over Arrears cases have fallen as a direct
and possessions as % of the book consequence of the sale of assets,
- by value 549 503 continued focus on customers In financial
- by number of accounts 406 375 difficulty and the contnuing support
Mumber of residential arrears 3 months provided to mortgage customers by low
and gver and possessions cases 3,574 8,451 interest rates Amears as a percentage of
the book have increased largely due to the
mix of residenbal loans sold
Impaiment provisicns The level of the residential impairment
Residential securad £m 2149 3885 Balance Sheet prowision reduced by
Cover % 208 158 £1736m The reduced provision reflects
Unsecured £m 963 2051 the sale of assets, improved arrears
Cover % 1972 16 20  performance, the benefit of mproving
Commercial f other £m 93 158 house prnces and realised losses within
Cover % 747 1040 the year The level of cover increased
from 158% to 209% largely due to the
mix of residential mortgage loans sold
dunng the year
Reduce costs | Total Costs  £m 776 895 Ongoing costs have reduced pnmanly
Ongoing costs £m 776 885 reflecting lower servictng costs foliowing
Ratio of costs to average interest-earming the sale of assets to Cerberus
assets The rato of ongoing costs to average
- statutory % 034 026 interest-earming assets has Iincreased as
- ongotng % 034 026 the Balance Sheet has reduced faster
than costs
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Business review
These financial results are for the year to 31 March 2016

Performance

The Board continue to believe it 1s appropnate to assess performance based on the underlying profits of the business, which
excludes the remediation of inhented regulatory defects and certain gains or losses such as the repurchase of our own
habilities at a discount or premium Whilst these gams or losses permanently impact capial reserves, the Board does not
believe that they reflect the performance of the underlying business Also excluded are movements in farr value and hedge
ineffectiveness relating to financial instruments which are expected to be held to matunty These movements will have no
matenal impact over the life of the assocrated finanaial instruments The commentary on the results in this statement uses
underlying profits and its components as the measure of performance An analysis of the difference between the statutory
profit and the underlying profit of the Group 1s provided below

Underlying profit for the year to March 2016 has decreased by £276 2m to £618 9m (March 2015 £895 1m) The decrease
in comparable annual profits was pnmanly due to a lower net interest income from the reducing Balance Sheet

Underltying net operating income for the year to March 2016 decreased by £269 1m to £630 5m (March 2015 £899 6m),
pnmarly due to lower income from the reducing Balance Sheet

Ongoing administrative expenses continue 1o fall For the year to March 2016 expenses were 13% lower than the previous
year at £77 8m (March 2015 £89 5m) Impairment on loans to customers for the year to March 2016 was a credit of £60 8m
{March 2015 £70 6m credit) a decrease of £9 7m from March 2015 Net impatrment on investment securittes was a £5 1m
credit for the year to March 2016 (March 2015 £14 4m credit) The number of mortgage accounts three or more months in
arrears including possessions reduced by 58% from 8,451 at March 2015 to 3,574 at March 2016

For the year to March 2016, statutory profit before tax was £843 Om (March 2015 £558 9m) and includes a £198 8m credit
to customer redress, which principally relates to the release of a £268 3m provision for the court case regarding unsecured
loans over £25k Please see page 54 for further details

Reconciliation of underlying profit before taxation to statutory profit before taxation

For the year ended 31 March

Net interest income 619.4 891 4
Underlying net non-interest income’ 11 82
Underlying net operating income 6305 8996
Ongoing administrative expenses {77 6) {89 5)
Impairment on loans to customers credit 609 708
Net impairment release on investment secunties 51 14 4
Underlying profit before taxation 618 9 8951
Unrealised fair value movements on financial instruments 02 (31 6)
Hedge ineffectiveness {21 9) 7 1)
Prowiston for customer redress 198 8 (284 7)
Profit on sale of loans 628 70
Loss on repurchase of own lhabilhities (15 8) (19 8)
Statutory profit before taxation 8430 558 9

1 Underlying net non-interest income includes net fee and commission income, net gains on financial nstruments dasignated at fair value,
nat realised gains less losses on mvestment secunties and other operating income

NRAM ‘
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Business review (continued)

Performance (continued)

Net interest Income

Net interest income for the year to March 2016 was £619 4m (March 2015 £891 4m) The reduction in income 1 pnmanly
due to the decrease in average interest-eaming assets over the year, dnven by the sale of assets and customer
redemptions

Net interest margin increased to 2 68% from 2 57% dnven by an increase in the proportion of interest-free funding (1 e
equity and reserves) on the NRAM Balance Sheet

Underlying net non-interest income

Underlying net non-interest income was £11 1m for the year to March 2016 (March 2015 £8 2m) The increase 1s pnmarily
due 1o the recognition of £6 3m of senvicing fee mcome following the sale of loans to Cerberus, partly offset by lower
redemption and arrears fee income

Provision for customer redress

The Group defines conduct nsk as the nsk of treating its customers unfairly and delivering inappropnate outcomes leading to
customer detriment or impacting market integnty We have been remediating a senes of conduct 1ssues inherited from the
legacy busingss, including the mis-selling of Payment Protection Insurance ('PPI") by Northem Rock and the tssue of non-
comphant CCA loan documentation to certain customers

In December 2014 the High Court ruled that customers with loans over £25,000, who had incorrectly been sent
documentation stating that their loans were regulated under the CCA, should receve remediation in line with that provided in
2012 on CCA loans of less than £25,000 Therefore, a charge of £268 3m was recogrised in the year ended March 2015
However, in July 2015 NRAM successfully appealed this decision through the Court of Appeal and as such the charge has
been reversed in the current year

NRAM remains commitied to doing the nght thing for our customers and where we identfy 1ssues that have caused
customer detnment, we will ensure that they are fully remediated A further charge of £69 5m for customer redress has
been made dunng the year to address nhented i1ssues largely relatng to PPl following the publication of the FCA
consultation paper regarding a potential tme bar and Plevin v Paragon Personal Finance Limited ('the Plevin case”)

Accounting volatility on derivative financial instruments

NRAM uses denvative financial instruments for economic hedging purposes Dunng the year the number of such
nstruments reduced significantly due to the Covered Bond buybacks, the redemption of the Granite structure and the sale of
assets Subseguently NRAM de-designated its remaining 1AS 39 'Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement'
complant fair value or cash flow hedge relationships

The Income Statement charge for hedge ineffectiveness was £21 9m in the year (March 2015 £7 1m)

Unrealised fair value movements were a gain of £0 2m n the year {March 2015 £316m loss) These gains and losses
generally relate to denvatives that act as an economic hedge but were not treated as an accounting hedge under IAS 39
‘Financial Instruments Recogrution and Measurement'

Cngoing administrative expenses

Ongoing administrative expenses for the year to March 2016 were £77 6m (March 2015 £89 5m) The ratio of costs to
average Interest-eaming assets was 0 34% (March 2015 026%) Ongoing costs have reduced primanly reflecting lower
servicing costs following the sale of assets to Cerberus The ratio of ongoing costs to average interest-earning assets has
increased as the Balance Sheet reduces faster than costs

Arrears and {oan impairment

Strong arrears performance continues NRAM has seen arrears fall as a direct consequence of asset sales and proactive
arrears management coupled with the continued tow interest rate environment Residential loan impairment for the year was
a £56 7m credit {March 2015 £91 1m credit)y This was £34 4m lower than the pnor year, reflecting slower house price
growth and lower recovenes Wnte-offs in the year totalled £51 5m (March 2015 £91 5m)

The residential loan impaiment provision has reduced by £173 6m since March 2015 to £214 9m (March 2015 £388 5m)
reflecting the sale of assets, improved arrears performance, realised losses and the benefit of improving house prices As a
proportion of balances, the residential impairment prowision was 2 09% (March 2015 1 58%)

The number of cases three months or more in arrears, including those in possession, fell by 58% to close the year at 3,574
cases (March 2015 8,451 cases) due to improving arrears performance and the sale of loans

The number of properties in possession reduced from 590 cases at March 2015 to 180 at March 2016

The number of unsecured loans three months or more in arrears was 4,307 cases (March 2015 8,877) The charge for
unsecured loan impairment for the year was £1 5m (March 2015 £22 7m) Asset coverage was 19 7% at 31 March 2016
{March 2015 16 2%)

NRAM ;
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Business review (continued)

Performance {continued)

Arrears and loan impairment {continued)

The provision for unsecured loans was £96 2m (March 2015 £205 1m) The reduction reflects the sale of assets, realised
losses and the reduction in arrears cases Realtsed losses In the year were £16 5m (March 2015 £32 3m) all of which had
previcusly been fully provided for

Net impairment release on investment assets

NRAM continues to review secunties held on the Balance Sheet and believes the risk of further impatrment i1s not significant
Dunng the financial year we have identfied a number of assets where events have occurred that caused us to reverse
impairrments previously charged These have resulted in a net credi to imparrment in the year of £5 1m (March 2015
£14 4m)

Profit on sale of {oans to customers

In November 2015 we announced the £13bn asset sale to Cerberus The portfolio was sold via a competitive process which
saw a high level of interest resulting in a sale prce in excess of par and a premium in the region of £280m When adjusted
for costs, hedging impacts and margins between June 2015 and the completion date this gave an accounting profit on
disposal of £59 4m Also, during the year NRAM released £3 4m of warranty provisions relating to sales in earlier penods, as
these provisions were no longer required

Loss on repurchase of own habilities

In the year to 31 March 2016, NRAM repurchased £3,631 9m (March 2015 £253 5m) of its llabilihes, resulting tn a net loss
of £158m (March 2015 £198m) Whilst this resulted in a net loss within the year, the transactions ¢reated value for the
taxpayer by remowving significant future habiities, simphfying our Balance Sheet and unencumbenng morigages thus
increasing our abiity to deliver future sales transactions to the benefi of the taxpayer

Taxation

The overall tax charge for the year 1s £173 5m (March 2015 £116 7m), giving an effective tax rate of 20 6% (March 2015
20 9%) The effective tax rate 1s higher than the statutory rate due to disallowable expenses In relation to PP| customer
compensation costs following legislation that came into effect on 8 July 2015

Balance Sheet

The Balance Sheet has decreased by £22 Obn since March 2015 primanly as a result of a £14 8bn reducton in lending
balances tc £10 6bn {March 2015 £25 4bn} The reduction in lending balances included the sale of £11 7bn of residential
mortgages, £2 8bn of residential redemptions, £0 1bn of unsecured loan redemptions and £0 3bn of other regular
repayments

Liabilities

Wholesale funding reduced by £16 2bn, which included the repayment of £8 1bn of Granite securitisation labilihes and the
repurchase of £3 6bn of Covered Bonds At the start of the year, NRAM had £13 6bn of funding {excluding accrued interest)
from HM Treasury Repayment of this debt remains a pnmary objective of NRAM In the year, £6 2bn of HM Treasury debt
was repaid and £0 3bn of other cash flows were also generated for HM Treasury in the form of State Guarantee Fees,
interest and taxes The Board considers the total of all these cash flows paid to HM Treasury to be an important measure
Total cash repayments to HM Treasury in 2015/16 were £6 5bn (March 2015 £1 6bn) At the end of March 2016, the gross
government loan balance (excluding accrued interest) was £7 5bn (March 2015 £13 6bn)

Capital

The Company operates under a MIPRU regulatory status While FCA rules require the Company to hold capital in excess of
1% of the Company's total Balance Sheet assets plus any undrawn commitments, the Board beheves it appropnate to hold a
higher level of capital reflecting the increased nsk in the business compared to a standard MIPRU firm As at 31 March 2016
capital in the Company represented 33 2% of the Company's assets

The Company's capital 1s provided by its shareholder NRAM met its capital requirements in full throughout the year and has
received no additional capital from HM Treasury

The Company’s total captal resources of £4,190 Om are £647 6m higher than at 31 March 2015, mainly due to profits
generated in the year and the release of the cash flow hedge reserve following the unwind of Granite and Covered Bond
funding structures, partly offset by an increase in the net pension adjustment reflecting an increase in the value of pension
assets

NRAM ’
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Introduction

The following sections descnbe the Group's major nsk categories under management Other factors could affect the Group's
resuits, including economic factors Therefore, the categones of nsk described below should not be considered to represent
all of the potential nsks and uncertainties which could impact the Group

Risk categorisation

During the year the Group categornised nsk under the following headings

{1) Credit nsk

Credit nsk 1s the potential for financial loss caused by a retall or commercial customer, or wholesale counterparty, faling to
meet their obligations to the Group as they become due As the Group 1s no lenger making any new retail loans, the
absolute level of retail credit nsk 1s expected to decline as the current assets mature and wholesale credit nsk will dechne in
ine with the maturity profile of financial instruments and investments Credit nsk 1s the largest nsk the Group faces and the
monitoring of the recoverability of loans and amounts due from counterparties 1s inherent across most of the Group's
activities

The Group employs credit behavioural scoring and fraud detection techniques to support loss minimising strategies  As no
new lending 1s now being undertaken, the focus of credit nsk activities 1s on

+« a proactve approach to the identffication and control of loan impaiment in the residential and commercial credit
risk and credit control areas,

+ fraud and professional neghgence nvestigation, and
+ the use of credit behavioural scoring and other techniques to monitor the risk profile of the exasting book

Adverse changes in the credit quality of borrowers or a general detencration in UK economic conditions could affect the
recoverability and value of the Group's assets and therefore the Group's financial performance

As credrtt nsk 1s the main risk to the Group, a Credit Risk Framework has been established as part of the overall governance
framework to measure, mitigate and manage credit nsk within ngk appetite To a lesser degree, the Group 1s exposed o
other forms of credit nsk such as those ansing from settlement activities where the nsk 1s a consequence of a transachon,
rather than a driver of it

The impact of credit nsk on the Group’s Batance Sheet 1s shown by the following table of provisions for mark-downs on
imparred assets

Balance Balance
Sheet Provision Shect Provision

value value
2016 2016 2015 2015
At 31 March Em £m £m £m
Loans secured on residential property 10,066 215 24,169 389
Other secured loans 115 9 137 16
Unsecured personal loans 392 96 1,061 205
Wholesale assets 1,781 227 6,945 227

The Group's ability to influence the structure of its credit nsk profiles, in the absence of asset sales, Is largely restncled to the
degree of control which it has over nsk strategy, loan redemptions and credit collections actvity With the composition of the
loan portfohio largely fixed in the short to medium term, the Group's credit nsk profiles are now determined by the credit
qualty of the existing portfolo Changes in credit quality will arise from changes in the underlying economic environment,
assumptions about the future trends in the economy, changes In the specific charactenstics of individual loans, and the
credit nsk strategies developed to enhance the book whilst mitigating credit nsk

It 1s Group policy to monitor the profile of the Group’s lending exposure quarterly Changes in the nsk profile are reported as
part of the Group's stress tests The stress tesis forecast losses, imparment and capital requirements at a portfolio and
product level over a ten year honzon given a range of economic scenanos

The Board receves a monthly update on changes in the key dnvers of the lending credit nsk profile, with more detailed
information on the factors underlying these key drnivers being reported monthly to the Executive Risk Committee {ERC"

NRAM ;
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Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Risk categorisation (continued)

{1} Credit nsk (continued)

Credit related pohicies and imits are developed and maintained within Credit Risk and are reviewed and approved annually
by the Board, or when significant changes to policies are recommended The ERC ensures that any exposure to credit nsk
remains within overall nsk exposure levels as agreed by the Board

Authonsed credit nisk hmits for wholesale money market counterparties reflect therr credit rating as well as size, depth and
qualty of therr capital base Wholesale credit related policies and limits are developed and maintained by Wholesale Risk
and are approved by the Board at least annually, or when matenal changes to policies are recommended

The Group holds a structured finance portfolio that pnmarly consists of investments in asset backed secunties (‘ABS'} The
credit nsk s determined by the quality of the underlying secuntised assets Credit nsk continues to fall as the quality of
underlying assets improves and the size of the portfolio reduces No new structured finance investments are permitted apart
from the purchase of those 1ssued by the Group's own secured funding vehicles

(i} Market nsk

Market nisk 1s the potential for change in Group income or Group net worth ansing from movements in interest rates, foreign
exchange rates or other market pnces Effective (dentification and management of market sk 1s essential for maintaining
stable net interest ncome The Group does not trade or make markets in any areas and market nsk enly anses either as a
legacy of past business or from supporting core activities

Market nsk compnses interest rate nsk and foreign exchange nsk Interest rate nsk 1s pnncipally managed wia interest rate
swaps and foreign exchange nsk by foreign exchange contracts

The Board's appetite for market nsk 15 set out in the Board approved Market Risk Policy Responsibility for staying within
nsk appetite 1s delegated to the Finance & Investment Director and exposures are reported dailly by Finance to senior
management and monthly by Wholesale Risk to the Asset & Liability Committee (ALCC') ALCO 1s responsible for ensunng
that the Finance & Investment Director implements market nsk strategies consistently with the Board's Risk Appetite

{m) Liguidity nsk

Liquidity risk 1s the nisk of being unable to pay habilihies as they fall due and arises from both the mismatch in asset, hiability,
denivative and collateral cash flows and from unforeseen changes to these

The Board's appelite for lqudity nsk 1s low and 1s managed to ensure it has an adequate level of liquidity to meet its
commitments at all times and mamntained within agreed HM Treasury facilities, with minimum liquidity levels set out in the
Board approved Liquidity Risk Policy Responsibility for managing hquidity nsk 1s delegated to the Finance & Investment
Director Stress tests are used to assess the adequacy of liquidity both daily and monthly by Finance and Wholesale Risk
and the resulls are reported to ALCO ALCO 1s responsible for ensuring that the strategies of the Finance & Investment
Director maintain hquidty nsk within the Board's Risk Appetite

Sterling iquidity 1s held as cash balances at the Bank of England Euro and US dollar cash balances are placed with a
range of banks and money market funds

{rv) Conduct nsk

Conduct nsk 1s managed at a UXAR Group level and 1s defined as the 'nsk of treating customers unfairly and delivenng
nappropnate cutcomes leading to customer detnment or impacting market integnty’

This nsk category 1s governed by a Conduct Risk Framework (CRF'), which was established dunng 2013 The CRF forms
part of UKAR's existing Enterpnse Wide Risk Management Framework ((EWRMF') Through the EWRMF the approach to
conduct nsk will be led by Seruor Management and the Board It ensures a joined-up and consistent approach to the
management of conduct nsk and has been integrated into business strategy, management and decision making

The CRF sets out the approach to the effective assessment, management and monitoring of conduct nisk in accordance with
our stated conduct nsk appetite The Group has a zero nsk appetite for systemic conduct nsk that could lead to unfair
customer outcomes or pose a nsk to market integnty Conduct nsk 1s an integral part of the way the Group does business,
specifically, the interests of customers and market integnity are at the heart of the Group's strategy, business and culture
With clear and visible leadership from the Board everyone takes responsibility for good conduct throughout our business
model with established controls to deliver fair and appropnate outcomes 1o our customers Qur market conduct ensures that
ihe Group has no impact on market integnty To support this, annual mandatory conduct nisk training has been introduced
for all colleagues

NRAM ;
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Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Risk categorisation {continued)

(v) Regutatory risk

Regulatory nsk s the nsk of faling to comply with the legal and regulatory requirements applying to the Group's
arrangements and acwvities The Group has a zero regulatory nsk appetite and undertakes its activities in kne with this The
Group has established, implements and maintains policies and procedures designed to detect any risk of falure by the
Group to comply with its obhgations under the regulatory system, as well as associated nsks, and has put in ptace adequate
measures and procedures designed to mimmise these nsks and to enable the FCA (and any relevant regulator) to exercise
its powers effectively under the regulatory system

{vi} Operational nsk

Cperational nsk 1s defined as 'the nsk of loss resulting from inadequate or faled internal processes, people and systems, or
from external events'

The Operational Risk Framework consists of an appropnate suite of policies, standards and procedures to enable effective
identification, assessment, monitoring and reporting of key operational nsks The framework 13 overseen and reported on by
the Operational Risk Function The key objectives of the framework are as follows

+ Risk & Controi Self Assessment
Prowvision of a consistent framework for the identification, assessment, monitorning and reporting of significant nsks
and key controls across the Group Where controls are assessed as ineffective in design or operation, a defined
Corrective Action Plan process 1s in place to develop, track and implement control improvements

« Operational nsk event reporting
Prowision of a consistent framework for the identfication, investigation, assessment and reporting of operational nsk
events (losses, gains and near misses) across the Group Root cause analysis performed as part of operational
nsk event reporting enhances the control environment by directing control improvement effort where there 1s a nsk
of event recurrence

¢« Key Risk Indicators
Key Risk Indicators are defined as measured metrics that track changes in the level of nsk exposure and centrol
effectiveness through reference to defined nisk tolerances that are aligned to the Group's nisk appetite These
metncs provide an early warning of shifing nsk exposures to identify emerging nsks and enable control
implementation before nsks materialise

» Operational risk weighted financial impact analysis and scenario analysis
The Group undertakes operaticnal nsk weighted financial impact analysis and scenano analysis to calculate the
financial impact of both expected and unexpected operational nsk events This analysis facilitates a companson
between operational nsk, financiai exposure and the operational nsk capital allocatton derived under the Group's
capital adequacy assessment process

{vu} Strategic nsk

Strategic nisk 1s managed at a UKAR Group level and s defined as the current or prospective nsk to earnings and/or fair
value, given the B&B Group and the NRAM Group Balance Sheet structure, ansing from changes in the business
environment and from adverse business decisions, improper implementation of decisions or lack of responsiveness to
changes in the business environment

The UKAR Group considers the pnimary strategic nisks to be macroeconomic environment, market pressures, structural
asset/labiity mix, political, regulatory and legal nisk, infrastructure nsk (including managing a mortgage bock in wind down)
and project nsk

The UKAR Group's focus Is on continuous assessment and measurement of movement in strategic nisk status in order to
ensure continuous monitonng of potential impacts on the Ten Year Plan, annual business and operating plans, and the
UKAR Group's overarching strategic objectives Thus, close oversight of movements in strategic nisk (proximity, financial
Impact, probability) 1s maintained via monthly reporting to the Executive Committee and the Board Where appropnate, and
taking in to account the mainly external nature of strategic nsk, nsk management strategies can then be defined to mitigate
the impact of a nsk event ansing

H Young
Company Secretary
29 June 2018
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Other matters

Financial nsk management objectives and policies

Information regarding the financial nsk management objectives and policies of the Group in relation to the use of financial
instruments 1s given 1 note 35 A descniption of the principal nsks te which the Group and Company are exposed 1s provided
on pages 7 to 9 which form an integral part of the audited consolidated Financial Statements

Group structure

On 1 October 2010 UKAR was established as the holding company for NRAM and B&B, bringing together the two
companies under shared management and a common Board of Directors

UKAR 1itself 1s 100% owned by the UK government which exercises control through UK Financial Invesiments Limited
{UKFT') which was set up on 3 November 2008 to manage the government’s investments m Royal Bank of Scotland, Lloyds
Banking Group, Northern Rock and Bradford & Bingley

Although managed under a common Board and management structure, NRAM and B&B remain separate legal entites and
confinue to operate as individual companies with their own individual brands and Balance Sheets

On 5 May 2016 NRAM plc was sold to Cerberus as part of the sale of £13bn assets announced in November 2015 As part
of this transaction certain assets and liabiliies were transferred to a new wholly owned subsidiary of UKAR, NRAM (No 1)
Limited, which will continue to operate similar governance arrangements as previously applied to NRAM plc For details see
note 38 Events after the Reporting Period

Corporate Governance

Duning 2015116 NRAM was governed and controlled by UKAR as s sole shareholder Please refer to the UKAR Group
Annual Report and Accounts for a summary of the governance regime applicable to NRAM throughout 2015/16

Directors and Company Secretary
The names of the Directors and Secretary of the Company are below

R Pym Chairman for whole of 2015/16, resigned 5 May 2016

R Banks Director for whole of 2015/16

| Hares Director for whole of 2015/16

D Lunn Director for whole of 2015/16, resigned 5 May 2016

K Atkinson Senior Independent Director for whole of 2015/16, resigned 5 May 2016
M Buckley Director for whole of 201516, resigned 5 May 2016

S Langley Director for whole of 2015/186, resigned 5 May 2016

K Morgan Director for whole of 2015/16, resigned 5 May 2016

J Gornall Company Secretary for whole of 2015/16, resigned 5 May 2016

G Hickey Appointed 5 May 2016

D Clinton Appointed 5 May 2016

H Patel Appointed 5 May 2016

J Mayer Appointed 5 May 2016

H Ang Company Secretary appointed 5 May 2016, resigned 3 June 2016
H Young Company Secretary appointed 3 June 2016

Resignations
There were no resignations during 2091516

However, on 5 May 2016, as part of the sale of NRAM plc, the Directors, except for Mr Banks and Mr Hares, resigned from
the Board of NRAM plc To ensure a smooth transition between 5 May 2016 and final completion Richard Banks and lan
Hares will remain on the Board of NRAM plc as Non-Executive Directors  Post final completion they will stand down They
will recewve no fees for this directorship

New appointments
There were no new appointments during 2015/16

However, on 5 May 2016, as part of the sale of NRAM plc, new Directors are apponted to the Board of NRAM plc  They are
Mr Clinton (new Non-executive Chairman), Mr Hickey {Managing Director), Mr Patel (Non-executive Director) and Mr Mayer
{Non-executive Director)

Directors’ interests

Throughout the year UKAR, B&B and NRAM shared a common Board of Directors Their individual profiles are included with
the UKAR Group Annual Report & Accounts

Directors’ remuneration

Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in the UKAR Group Annual Report & Accounts These are available on UKAR's
website at www ukar co uk The remuneration disclosed in the UKAR Group accounts 1s the total remuneration for the
Directors for all UKAR companies
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Other matters (continued)

Directors’ conflicts of interest

The Board, as permitted by the Company’s articles of association, has authonsed all potenbal conflicts of interest declared
by individual Directors and a full register i1s reviewed and mamntained

Directors’ indemnities

UKAR has provided each Director with a Deed of Indemmnity, which constituted ‘qualifying third party indemnity provision’ in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 The Deeds were in force dunng the whole of the financial year
ended 31 March 2016 and remain in force as at the date of approval of the Directors’ Report

The Deeds indemnify the Directors to the fullest extent permitted by law against all losses suffered or incurred in respect of
acts and omissions arising as a result of holding office  The indemnities also extend to the reimbursement of each Director
with the costs of defending all clams, actions and proceedings including regulatory investigation ansing out of or connected
with the exercise of, or fallure to exercise, any of the Director's powers, duties or responsibiities as an officer, Director,
trustee, agent or employee of the UKAR Group and any of its subsidianes Reimbursement 1s subject to the Director’s
obligation to repay the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 The payment obligations of
the Company under each Deed of Indemnity are backed by a specific guarantee in favour of the Director entered into
between the Company and HM Treasury

The Company has also arranged Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance on behalf of the Directors in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006

NRAM "




Directors’ Report and Governance Statement Annual Report & Accounts 2016

Other matters (continued)

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Audited consolidated Financial Statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements for
each financial penod  Under that law the Directors have prepared the Group and Parent Company Financial Statements in
accordance with Internationa! Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS') as adopted by the European Union  Under company
law the Directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the siate of affars of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period tn preparing these
Financial Statements, the Directors are required to

¢ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
» make Judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

» state whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the European Union have been foflowed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements, and

s prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropnate to presume that the
Company will continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficent to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the
Group and enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularies

The Directors are responsible for the mantenance and integnty of the Company's website, and legislation in the United
Kingdom goveming the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
Junsdictions

Each of the Directors confirms that, to the best of each person’s knowledge and belief

+ the Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, give a true and far view of the
assets, labilities, financial postion and profit of the Group and Company,

» the Directors’ Report contained in the Annual Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of
the business and the position of the Company and Group, together with a descnption of the principal nsks and
uncertainties that they face, and

« the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, Is fair, balanced and understandable, providing the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's performance, business model and strategy

Goling concern

The Directors have assessed, taking into consideration the principal risks set out on page 7 to 9, potential future strategic
options and the current and anticipated economic conditions, the Company's and the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern  On the basis of current financial projections, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and
Group has adeguate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and therefore believe that the
Company 15 well placed to manage its business nsks successfully despite the cument uncertain economic outlook
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in prepaning the Financial Stalements

Employees

The Non-Executive Directors have service contracts with UKAR  All Executive Directors and colleagues were employed by
B&B (the legal employer) dunng 2015/16

Dividends

No dwidends were paid dunng the year to March 2016 {March 2015 mil) As descnbed in note 38(a), on 30 Apnl 2016 the
Company paid a dwidend of £3,787 4m to NRAM (No 1) Limited
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Other matters (continued)

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities (continued)

Auditors and disclosure of information to auditors
As at the date of this report, each person who (s a Director confirms that

+ so far as each Director 1s aware there 1s no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are
unaware, and

« each Director has taken such steps as he or she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make him or herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 (2) of the Companies
Act 2008

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC'") will continue in office until the conclusion of the Company’s next General Meeting
The board will then consider the appointment of the Company's new independent auditor from the conclusion of this
meeting

H Young
Company Secretary
29 June 2016
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Independent Auditors’ report to the Members of NRAM pic

Report on the Financial Statements

Our opinion

In our opinion

*+  NRAM plc's Group Financial Statements and Parent Company Financial Statements (the ‘Financial Statements”)
give a true and farr view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company's affairs as at 31 March 2016 and of
the Group's profit and the Group's and the Parent Company's cash fiows for the year then ended,

= the Group Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ('IFRS') as adopted by the European Union,

« the Parent Company Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by
the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provestons of the Companies Act 2008, and

¢ the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008

What we have audited
NRAM plc's Financial Statements comprise
+ the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets as at 31 March 2016,

¢ the Consolidated Income Statement and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then
ended,

s the Group and Parent Company Cash Flow Statements for the year then ended,
¢ the Consoldated and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity for the year then ended,
« the accounting policies, and

+ the notes to the Financial Statements, which include other explanatory information

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Financial Statements 1s applicable law and
IFRS as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the Parent Company Financial Statements, as applied in
accordance with the provisiens of the Companies Act 2006

In applying the financial reporting framework, the Directors have made a number of subjective Judgements, for example n
respect of significant accounting estimates fn making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future
events

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, the infermation given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the
Financial Statements are prepared I1s consistent with the Financiat Statements

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of accounting records and Information and explanations recelved
Under the Companies Act 2008 we are required to report to you if, In our opinion

= we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or

= adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us, or

= the Parent Company Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retums

We have no exceptions to report ansing from this responsibility

Directers’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, In our opinton, certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration specified by law are not made We have no exceptions to report ansing from this responsibility
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Independent Auditors’ report to the Members of NRAM plc (conunued)

Responsibilities for the Financial Statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the Directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities as set out on pages 12 to 13, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the Financial Statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and far view

Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (1SAs (UK & ireland)’) Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditting Practices Board's Ethtcal Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company's members as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, in giving these opinions, accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other persen to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands 1t
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing

What an audit of Financial Statements involves

We conducted our audit in accordance with 1SAs (UK & lreland) An audit inwolves obtarung evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the Financial Statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the Financial Statements are free
from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of

+ whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group's and the Parent Company's circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed,

e the reasonableness of signficant accounting estmates made by the Directors, and

+ the overall presentation of the Financial Statements

We pnmanly focus our work in these areas by assessing the Directors’ judgements against available evidence, forming our
own Judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the Financial Statements

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techmques, to the extent we consider necessary to
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of
controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both

In addition, we read all the financia! and non-financial information in the Annuai Report to identify material inconsistencies
with the audited Financial Statements and to identify any information that 1s apparently matenally incormrect based on, or
matenally inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit If we become aware of any
apparent matenal misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

=L

Gary-Sha {Sentor Statutory Auditor)

for and half of PrnicewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Leeds

29 June 2016
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

12 months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
Note Em £m
Interest receivable and similar income 3 8868 12552
Interest expense and similar charges 3 (267 4) (363 8}
Net interest iIncome 3 619 4 8914
Fee and commission income: 83 108
Fee and commission expense {12 0) {12 1)
Net fee and commission income (37) {13)
Net realised gains less losses on investment secunties 4 78 83
Unrealised fair value movements on financial instruments 5 02 (31 6)
Hedge ineffectiveness 5 (21 9) T
Other operating iIncome 70 12
Non-interest income (10 6) (30 5}
Total iIncome 608 8 8609
Administrative expenses 6 {77 &) {89 5)
Prowision for customer redress 26 198 8 (284 7)
Impairment on loans to customers 13 609 706
Net impairment release on investment securnties 10 51 14 4
Profit on sale of loans 12 628 70
Loss ¢n repurchase of own habihties 7 (15 8) (19 8)
Profit before taxation 8430 558 ©
Taxaticn 8 {173 5) (116 7)
Profit for the financial year 669 5 442 2

The notes on pages 23 to 77 form an integral part of these Financial Statements

The Company's profit after tax for the financial year was £678 9m (2015 £447 2m) As permitted by Section 408 of the
Cormpanes Act 2006, the Company's indwvidual Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive Income and related notes

have not been presented in these Financial Statements

The results above anse from continuing activities

NRAM
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the 12 months to 31 March 2018

Gross of fax Tax Net of tax
£m £m £m
Profit for the financial year 8430 {173 5) 669 5
Other comprehensive iIncome/(expense)
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Available-for-sale instruments
- net gains recognised in avatlable-for-sale reserve during the year 293 {14 6) 147
- amounts fransferred from available-for-sale reserve and recogrused In
profit dunng the year (11 8) 59 {59)
Cash flow hedges
- net losses recogmised in cash flow hedge reserve during the year (1,301 3) 2718 {1,029 5)
- amounts transferred from cash flow hedge reserve and recognised In
profit during the year 1,069 1 (223 3} 8458
{214 7) 398 {174 9)
items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
- retirement benefit remeasurements 569 {11 4) 455
569 {11 4) 455
Total other comprehensive expense {157 8} 284 (129 4)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 685 2 (145 1) 5401
For the 12 months to 31 March 2015
Gross of tax Tax Net of tax
£m £m £m
Profit for the financial year £58 9 {116 7) 442 2 ‘
Cther comprehensive income/(expense) '
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Available-for-sale instruments
- net losses recognised in avallable-for-sale reserve during the year (8 5) 17 (6 8)
- amounts transferred from available-for-sale reserve and recogmsed in
profit durning the year 151 (30) 121
Cash flow hedges
- net losses recogrised in ¢ash flow hedge reserve dunng the year (795 4) 124 2 (6712)
- amounts transferred from cash flow hedge reserve and recognised in
profit dunng the year 855 6 (133 8) 7220
668 (107 56 1
items that wili not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
- retirement benefit remeasurements 472 (9 8) 374 I
472 (9 8) 374 :
Total other comprehensive income 114 0 (20 5) 93 5 :
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 6729 {137 2) 5357 [
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BALANCE SHEETS
Group Company
Note 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2016 2015 2016 2015
£m £m £m £m
Assets
Balances with the Bank of England 9 41,3891 58711 1,389 1 58711
Cash at bank and in hand 11 56 3 669 5 563 5410
Investment securities 10 3355 404 7 3355 404 7
Loans to customers 12 10,5727 25,366 8 10,5727 25,366 8
Fair value adjustments on portfolio hedging 12 - 532 - 832
Denvatwe financial instruments 33(e) 115 2,0855 16 1,1505
Other assets 17 205 201 204 199
Retirement benefit assets 18 2294 1519 2294 1519
Property, plant and equipment 19 - 09 - 09
Intangible assets 20 - 05 - 05
Total assets 12,6150 34,624 2 12,605 0 33,560 5
Liabihties
Amounts due to banks 21 06 16822 06 12620
Other deposits 22 - - 370 87697
HM Treasury loans 23 7,4656 13,656 1 7,465 6 13,656 1
Denvative financial instruments 33(e) 117 709 117 709
Debt secunties in 1ssue 24 2501 14,798 2 2041 53852
Other habilities 25 201.5 502 2015 500
Current tax habilihes 96 4 529 96 4 529
Deferred tax habilities 16 416 714 436 714
Provisions 26 136 8 3685 136.8 3685
Caputal instruments 27 41 93 41 93
Total liabilities 8,210 4 30,7587 8,201 4 206960
Equity
Issued capital and reserves attnbutable to owners of the parent
- share capital 28 1240 1240 1240 124 0
- reserves 29 3947 569 6 3947 5800
- retained earnings 3,8859 3,1709 3,884 9 3,1605
Share capital and reserves attributable to 4,404 6 3,864 5 4,403 6 38645
owners of the parent
Total equity and habilites 12,6150 34,624 2 12,6050 33,560 5

The notes on pages 23 to 77 form an integral part of these Financial Statements

The Financial Statements on pages 17 to 77 were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2016 and signed on its

behalf by

| Hares
Director

<X (SVI

G Hickey
Director

NRAM plc 1s registered in England and Wales under company number 03273685

NRAM
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the 12 months to 31 March 2016

Share Capitat Total Non-
Share premium redemption Other Retained share capital controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserves oarnings and reserves interests  equity
Group £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2015 1240 4032 73 1591 31709 3,864 5 - 3,864 5
Other comprehensive
incomel/(expense)
- net movement in available-for-sale - - - 175 - 17.5 - 175
reserve
- net movement in cash flow hedge - - - {2322 - (232 2 - {232 2)
reserve
- retirement benefit remeasurements - - - - 569 569 - 569
- tax effects of the above - - - s (11 4) 28 4 - 284
Total other comprehensive - - - {(1749) 45.5 (129 4} - (129 4)
income/(expense)
Profit for the financial year - - - - 669 5 669 5 - 6695
Total comprehensive income - - - {1749y 7150 540 1 - 5401
At 31 March 2016 124.0 4032 73 (158) 3,8859 4,404.6 - 44046
For the 12 months to 31 March 2015
Share Capital Total Non-
Share premium  redempticn Other Retained share capital controling Total
capdal reserve reserve reserves  earmings  and reserves Interests equity
Group £m £m £m £m Em £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2014 1240 4032 73 1030 26912 3,3287 1966 35253
Other comprehensive
income/(expense)
- net movement in avalable-for-sale - - - 66 - 66 - 66
reserve
- net movement in cash flow hedge - - - 602 - 60 2 - 60 2
reserve
- retirement benefit remeasurements - - - - 472 47 2 - 47 2
- tax effects of the above - - - {(107) (9 8) (20 5) - (20 5)
Total other comprehensive income - - - 561 374 935 - 935
Profit for the financial year - - - - 4303 4303 119 4422
Total comprehensive ncome - ~ - 56 1 487 7 6238 119 5357
Gain/(loss) on repurchase of equity - - - - 120 120 (124 8) (112 8}
{see note 7)
Release of withheld coupons - - - - - - (837) (837)
(see note 7)
At 31 March 2015 1240 4032 73 1591 3,1709 3,864 5 - 38645
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the 12 months to 31 March 2016

Share Capital Total Non-
Share premlum redemption Other Retained share capltal controlling Total
capltal reserve resaerve resarves earmings and reserves Interests equity
Company £m £m £m £m £m Em £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2015 1240 4032 73 16895 31605 3,864 5 - 3.8645
Other comprehensive
Income/(expense)
- net movement in available-for-sale - - - 175 - 175 - 175
reserve
- net movement in cash flow hedge - - - (2426} - {242 6) - (242 8)
reserve
- retirement benefit remeasurements - - - - 569 569 . 569
- tax effects of the above - - - 398 (11 4) 284 - 284
Total other comprehensive income - - - (1853) 455 (139 8) - (139 8)
Profit for the financial year - - - - 678 9 678 9 - 6789
Total comprehensive income - - - {1853) 7244 5391 - 5391
At 31 March 2016 1240 4032 73 (158) 38849 4,403 6 - 4,403 6
For the 12 months to 31 March 2015
Share Capital Total Non-
Share premwm redemption Other Retained  share capital contreling Total
capital  reserve reserve reserves earnings  and reserves nterests equity
Company £m £m £m £m £m Em £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2014 1240 4032 73 1269 26758 3,337 2 1966  3,5338
Other comprehensive
incomef(expense)
- net movement in available-for-sale - - - 66 - 66 - 66
reserve
- net movement in cash flow hedge - - - 467 - 467 - 467
reserve
- retirement benefit remeasurements - - - - 47 2 47 2 - 47 2
- tax effects of the above - - - (107) (9 8) (20 5) - (20 5)
Total other comprehensive income - - - 426 374 800 - 800
Profit for the financial year - - - - 43563 4353 119 447 2
Total comprehensive income - - - 42 6 4727 515 3 119 527 2
Gain/(loss) on repurchase of equity - - - - 120 120 (124 8) (112 8)
(see note 7)
Release of withheld coupons (see - - - - - - (83 7} {83 7)
note 7)
At 31 March 2015 1240 403 2 73 1695 3,1605 3,864 5 - 3,864 5
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

Group Company
12 months to 12 months te 12months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit befaore taxation for the financial year 843 0 5589 852 4 563 ¢
Adjustments to reconcile profit to cash generated from
operating activiies
- profit on sale of loans {62 8) (70) {62 8} (70)
- provision for customer redress (198 8) 2847 {198 8) 2847
- defined benefit pension scheme credits (4 9) 37 (4 9) 37
- cash contnbution to defined benefit pension scheme (15 3} (34 0) {15 3) (34 0)
- depreciation and amortisation 03 05 03 05
- impaiment on loans to customers (60 9) (70 B6) (6C 9) (70 6)
- net impairment release on investment secunties 51 (14 4) (51) (14 4
- loss on repurchase of own liabilittes 158 198 158 198
- fair value adjustments on financial instruments 57 (99 9) 57 (99 9)
- other non-cash movements {311) {296 6) (46 6) 938
Cash flows generated from operating activities
before changes in operating assets and habihities 485 9 3377 479 8 7331
Net decrease in operating assels
- loans to customers 3,345 2 41700 33452 41700
- sale of loans 11,677 9 1,576 8 11,677 9 1,576 8
- denvative financia! instruments recevable 2,074 0 961 1 1,148 9 482 1
- other assets 14 26 14 286
Net increase/(decrease) in operating habiliies
- amounts due to banks and other deposits (1,681 1) (763 2) (9,993 7) (3,265 6)
- denivative financial instruments payable (59 2) (43 2) {59 2) (36 B)
- debt secunties n 1ssue {10,479 8) (2,703 9) {1,115 3) (122 9)
- other habitities (52 8) (20 2) {45 0) (21 4)
- provisions (34 0) (57 2} (34 ) (57 2)
Income tax paid {129 4) {162 4) {129 4) {162 4)
Net cash generated from operating activites 5,148 1 3.2981 5,276 6 3.298 3
Cash flows from investing activities
- purchases of property, plant and equipment - (0 4) - (0 4)
- proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets 11 - 11 -
- proceeds from sale and redemption of investment
securities 1023 172 3 1023 1723
- return of capital from subsidiary undertakings - - - o1
Net cash generated from investing activities 103 4 1719 1034 1720
Cash flows used in financing activities
- repayment of HM Treasury Loans (6,182 7) (1,277 5) {6,182 7) (1,277 5)
- repurchase of own habiities and equity {4,162 4) (499 6) {4,162 4) (499 6)
Net cash used In financing activities {10,345 1) (1,777 1) {10,345 1) (1,777 1)
Net (decrease)increase in cash and cash
eguivalents (5,093 6) 1,692 9 {4,965 1) 1,693 2
Cash and cash equivalenis at beginning of year 6,538 5 484586 6,410 0 4,716 8
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,444 9 6,538 5 1,444 9 64100
Represented by cash and assets with oniginal
maturity of three months or less within
- balances with the Bank of England 1,388 6 58690 1,388.6 5,868 0
- cash at bank and in_hand 56 3 669 5 56.3 5410
Total cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,444 9 6,538 5 1,444 9 64100
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1 Pnncipal accounting policies

NRAM plc ('the Company’) I1s a public imited company incorporated and domiciled in the Umited Kingdom
These Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2016

(a) Statement of compliance

Both the NRAM Company Financial Statements and the Group {(compnsing NRAM and its subsidianes) Financial
Statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting
Standards ('IFRS’) as adopted by the European Union ('EU’) IFRS compnises accounting standards prefixed IFRS ssued by
the Interational Accounting Standards Board ('IASB’) and those prefixed IAS which were 1ssued by the IASB's predecessor
body, along with interpretations 1ssued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC") prefixed IFRIC and those prefixed
SIC which were 1ssued by the IFRIC's predecessor body In publishing the Company Financial Statements here together
with the Group Financial Statements, the Company has taken advantage of the exemption in s408 of the Companies Act
2006 not to present its individual Income Statement and related notes

Far these 2016 Financial Statements, ncluding the 2015 comparative financrat information where applicable, the Group and
Company have adopted the following statements for the first ime

» The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle, 1ssued in December 2013, these changes had ne matenal impact
on the Group or Company

* The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle, 1ssued in December 2013, these changes had no matenal impact
on the Group or Company

For these 2016 Financial Statements the Group and Company have not adopted the following statements, the Group and
Company are assessing the impacts of these statements on theirr Financial Statements

e {FRS 8 ‘Financial Instruments’, in July 2014 the IASB published the final version {excluding macro-hedging), replacing
most of the requirements of IAS 39 The IASB intends that IFRS 9 will be effective for annual perods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 but the timing of EU endorsement i1s yet to be determined IFRS 9 15 expected to have major
impltcations for the Group and Company, in relation to impairment of loans to customers, hedging and which assets are
carned at amortsed cost and which at farr value The Group 1s undertaking an assessment of these impacts

¢ IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers', issued May 2014, effective for periods beginming on or after 1
January 2018 and yet to be endorsed by the EU No matenal impacts are expected for the Group or Company

e Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 ‘Clanfication of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation’, 1ssued May
2014 The amendments clanfy that a revenue-based method 1s not considered to be an approprate manifestation of
consumphon These amendments are mandatory for the Group and Company Financial Statements for the year to 31
March 2017 No matenal impacts are expected for the Group or Company

e The Annual mprovements to IFRS 2012-2014 Cycle, 1ssued in September 2014 These changes are mandatory for the
Group and Company Financial Statements for the year to 31 March 2017 No matenal impacts are expected for the
Group or Company

e« IFRS 16 ‘Leases’, 1ssued January 2016, effective for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and yet to be
endorsed by the EU The Group and Company are assessing the impacts of this statement

»  Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ relating to 'Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses’, 1ssued
January 2016, effective for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and yet to be endorsed by the EU  The Group
and Company are assessing the impacts of this statement

All other new standards, amendments {o standards and interpretations are not considered relevant to, and have no impact
upon, the Financial Statements of the Group or Company
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Notes to the Financial Statements Annual Report & Accounts 2016

1 Pnncipal accounting policies (continued)

{b) Basis of preparation
The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and using the histonical cost convention except

() the following assets and liabilites are carned at their far value
+ denivative financial instruments,
+ financal instruments categorised under IAS 39 as ‘available-for-sale’, and

(ny where far value hedge accounting has been applied, the carrying value of hedged tems has been adjusted to take
account of the fair value of the risk which has been hedged

The Company's business activities, principal nsks, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and
posttion are set out in the Strategic Report

On the basis of current financial projections, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and therefore believe that the Company 1s well
placed to manage its business risks successfully despite the current uncertain economic outlook Accordingly, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis in prepanng the Financial Statements

The Directors consider that the accounting policies set out In this note are the most appropnate to the Group's and the
Company's crcumstances, have been consistently applied to both the Group and the Company in dealing with tems which
are considered matenal and are supported by reasonable and prudent estimates and judgements

The accounting policies have been applied to all periods presented in these Financial Statements and are consistent with
the accounting policies used by the NRAM Group In preparing its Intenm Financial Report for the six months ended 30
September 2015

NRAM s regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA") as a mortgage admmstration company, and the Directors
believe that NRAM has an appropnate and adequate level of capital to support its activities

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with EU-adopted IFRS and with those parts of the Companies
Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS A summary of accounting policies 1s set out below The preparation
of the Fmancral Statements in conformity with these accounting policies and generally accepted accounting pnnciples
requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported values of assets and labilities at the date of the
Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the reporting penod Although these
estimates are based on management's best knowledge of the amounts, events or actions, actual resulis ultimately may
differ from those estimates (see note 2)

The Directors consider the business to compnse one operating and geographical segment due to the similanty of risks faced
within its UK-based residential, commercial and unsecured portfolios

The Company includes the assets, habilites and transactions of NRAM Covered Bond LLP within its own Financial
Statements

{c) Basis of consolhdation

The Group’s Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS 10 'Consolidated Financial Statements' and
incorporate on a fully conschdated line-by-line basis the Financial Statements of the Company and those entities (including
special purpose structures) which are controlled by the Company {its subsidianes) An investor controls an investee when 1t
Is exposed, or has nghts, to vanable returns from its Involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through s power over the investee Where subsidianes have been acquired duning a penod, their results are consolidated
into the Group's Financial Statements from the date control s transferred to the Group Where subsidianes have been
disposed of, therr results are consolidated to the date of disposal On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attnbuted
to the assets, iabilities and contingent habilites acquired Any difference between the consideration given and the fair valus
of the net assets acquired 1s capitalised as goodwill, which 1s subject to iImpairment testing in accordance with [AS 36
‘Impairment of Assets’ Where necessary, the Group Fimancial Statements include adjustments to bring the financial
statements of subsidianes into alignment with the accounting policies used by the Group A!l intra-group transactions and
balances are eliminated on consohdation

The Group has securitised vanous residential mortgage loans, generally by sale or transfer to Special Purpose Vehicles
('SPVs"), which In turn have 1ssued secunties to investors The SPVs are consolidated line-by-line irto the Group Financal
Statements If they are, In substance, controlled by the Company, all of the Group's SPVs are fully consokdated
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Notes to the Financial Statements Annual Report & Accounts 2016

1 Pnncipal accounting policies (continued)

(d) Interest Income and expense

For all interest-bearing financial Instruments except dernvatives, interest income and expense are recognised in the Income
Statement on an Effective Interest Rate (EIR") basis

The EIR method calculates the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial hability and spreads the interest iIncome or
interest expense on a level yield basis over the expected Iife of the instrument, or an appropnate shorter penod The
caleulation includes all directly atinbutable incremental fees and costs, premia on acquisition of mortgage portfolios and all
other prermia and disceunts as well as interest In respect of loans to customers, the elements other than interest are spread
over the penod to which the product reprces to a Standard or Product Vanable Rate The EIR 1s the rate which at the
inception of the instrument exactly discounts expected future cash flows over the appropnate penod to the inthal carrying
amount When calculating the EIR, future cash flows are estimated, considenng all contractual terms of the instrument (for
example prepayment options) but potential future credit losses are not considered

Interest on derivatives 1s included in interest iIncome where the denvative 1s hedging interest income, and interest expense
where the denvative 1s hedging interest expense

When a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets 1s wnitten down as a result of an impairment loss, interest
ncome continues to be recogrised by applying the applicable EIR to the reduced balance

{e) Fee and commission income
Where Value Added Tax {'VAT') i1s charged, ncome Is stated net of VAT

Commission recervable from the renewal of third party regulated financial services products was recognised as income
within ‘fee and commission income’ when the renewal policy went ‘on risk’, net of any provision for repayment in the event of
early termination by the customer If the commission 1s receivable on deferred terms, a deemed interest element of the
commission 15 separated and recognised on an EIR basis over the deferred payment penod

Fees charged to existing borrowers, including arrears and redemption fees, are recognised in fee and commission income
as they arnse

(f) Financial instruments
In accordance with IAS 39 each financial asset 1s classified at initiat recognition inte one of four categories

( Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,

(i) Held-to-maturity,

(i) Loans and receivables, or

(v) Available-for-sale,

and each financial liability into one of two categornes

(v) Financial habilties at fair value through profit or loss, or
(vi) Other habilities

Where the Directors believed it appropnate to do so, financial assets have been reclassified out of the ‘available-for-sale’
category to ‘loans and receivables' in accordance with the revisions to IAS 39 1ssued by the IASB in October 2008 Such
reclassifications are permitte¢ only under certain restncted circumstances, including that there 1s no active market for the
asset The asset Is reclassified using its fair value at the point of transfer and from that point on 1s accounted for on an EIR
basis The difference between the carrying value at the pont of reclassification and the expected value at the redemption
date 1s recognised n profit or loss on an EIR basis over the expected life of the asset and the asset's carrying value
accretes to the redemption amount over that penod, except where the asset has become impaired The balance in the
avallable-for-sale reserve which related to the asset 1s amortised to profit or loss over the expected Iife of the asset, in the
Income Statement the amortisation of the difference between value at reclassification and at redemption ang the
amortisation out of the avallable-for-sale reserve exactly offset each other

Measurement of financial instruments 1s either at amortised cost {(categones (i), (m} and (vi) above) or at farr value
(categories (1), (v} and (v) above), depending on the category of financial instrument

Amortised cost 1s the amount measured at inihial recognition, adjusted for subsequent principal and other payments, less
cumulative amortisation calculated using the EIR method, the amortisation 1s taken to interest Income or expense depending
on whether the instrument 15 an asset or a hability For assets, the amortised cost balance 1s reduced where appropriate by
an allowance for amounts which are considered to be imparred or uncollectble
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Notes to the Financial Statements Annual Report & Accounts 2016

1 Prnincipal accounting policies {continued)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

IFRS 13 'Farr Value Measurement' defines 'fair value' as 'the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a labity in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date' Where an active market 1s
considered to exist, far values are based on quoted pnces or lead manager pnices For instruments which do not have
active markets, far value s calculated using present value models, which take individual cash flows together with
assumptions based on market conditions and credit spreads, and are consistent with accepted economic methodologies for
pnoing financeal instruments Interest income and interest expense on instruments carned at fair value are included in the
Income Statement in ‘interest recevable and similar income’ or ‘interest expense and similar charges’ Movements in far
value are recognised in the ‘unreahsed fair value movements on financial instruments’ ine i the Income Statement except
in the case of instruments categonsed as ‘available-for-sale' In this case the far value movements are taken to the
‘avallable-for-sale’ reserve On sale or de-recognition of an available-for-sale instrument the accumulated farr value
movements are transferred from the ‘avallable-for-sale’ reserve to the 'net realised gains less losses on investment
secunties’ Iine of the Income Statement

(g} Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and lrabiities are offset and the net amount reported in the Balance Sheet when and only when there is a
legally enforceable nght to offset the recognised amounts, and there i1s an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the
asset and setile the hability simultaneously

{(h) Denvative financial instruments and hedge accounting

All of the Group’s denvative contracts are used for commercial management of exposures to interest rate nisks, foreign
currency nsks and risks ansing from forecast transactions

For many of the Group's denvative contracts, hedge accounting 1s applied However, in some cases natural offsets apply

Each denvative I1s carried at fair value on the Balance Sheet, as an asset when the fair value i1s posttive and as a hability
when the fair value s negative The fair value of a dervative includes any interest accrued on that denvative Changes in
the far value of denvatives are charged to the Income Statement, however by applying the hedge accounting rules set out
in IAS 39, the changes In farr value of denvatives which are used to hedge particular nsks can either be mitigated in the
Income Statement (far value hedge accounting) or recognised in other comprehensiwe income (cash flow hedge
accounting) The Group has adopted cash flow hedge accounting and fair value hedge accounting

(1) Cash flow hedge accounting

A cash flow hedge 1s used to hedge exposures to vanability in cash flows, such as vanable rate financial assets and
habiites The effective portion of changes in the dernvative farr value 1s recognised in other comprehensive income, and
recycled to the Income Statement in the periods when the hedged item affects profit and loss The fair value gain or loss
relating to the neffective portion 1s recognised immed ately in the Income Statement

(u) Fair value hedge accounting

A fair value hedge 15 used to hedge exposures to vanability in the fair value of financial assets and habilities such as fixed
rate loans Changes in far value of dervatives that are designated and qualify as farr value hedges are recorded in the
Income Statement, together with any changes in the farr value of the hedged asset or liability that are attnbutable to the
hedged nsk The Group uses far value hedge accounting on one-to-one relationship and portfolio hedging bases, as
described below

Where hedge accounting 1s not applied, changes n farr values are recognised immediately in the Income Statement

(11} One-to-one farr value hedges

Where one or more specific derivative financial instruments hedge the changes in fair value of a specific asset or kability,
provided that the hedge arrangement meets the requirements of IAS 39 to be classed as ‘highly effective’, the associated
hedged item 1s carried on the Balance Sheet at far value in respect of the hedged nsk Farr value gains and losses are
recognised in the Income Statement, miigating the fair value movements on the associated derivative financial instruments
The Income Staternent immediately recognises any hedge accounting ‘ineffectiveness’, that 1s any difference between the
fair value movement on the hedging instrument and that on the hedged item

(iv) Portfolio farr value hedges

Where a group of denvative financial instruments hedges the interest rate exposure of a group of assets or habilites, and
the hedge meets the requirements of IAS 39 to be classed as “highly effective’, the hedge relationship 1s accounted for in the
same way as a one-to-one farr value hedge except that the Balance Sheet carrying value of the hedged items 1s not
adjusted, instead, the difference between the camying value and the far value in respect of the hedged nisk 1s carned on the
Balance Sheet in ‘fair value adjustments on portfolio hedging’
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Notes to the Financial Statements Annual Report & Accounts 2016

1 Pnncipal accounting policies (continued)

(h) Denvative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

(v} Hedge effectiveness

At the inception of each hedging arrangement the relationship between the hedging instruments and the hedged items Is
documented, as well as the nsk management objective and strategy Also documented 1s an assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the denvatives that are used in the hedging arrangement are ‘highly effective’
in offsetting changes In fair values or cash fiows of the hedged items Under IAS 39 a hedge I1s deemed to be 'highly
effective’ if effectiveness 1s forecast 1o fall, and Is actually found to fall, within the 80% to 125% range Any hedge
relationship falling outside these imits 1s deemed to be ineffective and hedge accounting 1s discontinued

(vi) Ternunatton of hedges

Where a hedge relationship 1s terminated or deemed not to be highly effective (other than as a result of the hedged item
being de-recognised from the Balance Sheet due to sale or other reason), the adjustment refating to the teminated hedge
relationship 1s amortised to the Income Statement over the period that the hedged rtem affects profit and loss

(vii) Embedded dervatives

Certain financial iInstruments have denvative features embedded within them Where the economic charactenstics and risks
of the embedded denvative are not closely related to those of the host instrument, and where changes in fair value of the
host instrument are not reflected In the Income Statement, the embedded denvative 1s separated from the host and carmed
on the Balance Sheet at farr value with gans and losses on the embedded denvative being recognised in the Income
Statement In accordance with IFRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of Embedded Denvatives’ the decision as to whether to separate
and value an embedded denvative I1s reassessed when and only when the terms of the host contract are stgnificantly
modified

{1) Sale and repurchase agreements

Secunhies sold subject to repurchase agreements (repos’) continue to be reported as they were onginally classified within
the Balance Sheet as the nsks and rewards associated with that asset have been retaned The counterparty liability is
included in ‘amounts due to banks’ or ‘other deposits’ Secunties purchased under agreements to resell (‘reverse repos') are
recorded as ‘cash at bank and in hand' The difference between sale and repurchase pnce 1s treated as interest and
accrued over the lIife of the agreements using the EIR methed

(1} Impairment

Financial assets which are not held at fair value through profit or loss are reviewed for indications of possible impairment
throughout the penod and at each published Balance Sheet date An impairment loss 1s recogrised if, and only f, there 1s
objective evidence that a loss event (or events) has occurred after intial recognition and before the Balance Sheet date and
has a rehably measurable impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets
Losses that are incurred as a result of events occurring afier the Balance Sheet date are not recogrised

() Fnancial assets held at amortised cost

For each asset an assessment 1s made as to whether an impairment provision should be made on either an individual or a
collective basis  Assets where an individual impairment assessment 1s made include all loans in possession or held for sale
with a Law of Property Act (LPA') receiver and others which management consider to be individually imparred, for example
where a fraud has been uncovered The carmying value of the asset at the Balance Sheet date 1s reduced, by applying an
impairment allowance to the net present value of the expected future cash flows associated with the asset, calculated at the
asset’s onginal EIR These cash flows include, where appropnate, estimated amounts recoverable by possession and sale
of a secured property taking into account a discount on praperty value to reflect a forced sale

All assets that have been assessed as having no indwidual impairment are then collectively assessed for impairment,
grouped by assets with similar charactenstics Assessment 1Is made of mpaiment ansing due to events which are believed
to have occurred by the Balance Sheet date but have not yet been reported, taking into account the economic cimate in the
market This collective impawment 1s reflected by reducing the carrying value by applying an imparrment aliowance

Impairment of assets 1s charged in the Income Statement in the 'Tmpairment on loans to customers’ and ‘net impairment on
investment secunties’ lines

For impaired loans to customers, interest 1s accrued for accounting purposes on the loan amount after any impaiment
adjustments, in accordance with IAS 39, using the onginal EIR of the loan However, for the purposes of the amount legally
due from the borrower, interest continues to accrue on the full outstanding balance and it is this full balance plus full interest
which 1s pursued for collection

A loan to a customer 1s written off and any associated impairment allowance released when, and only when, the property 1s
sold, the account 13 redeemed, or in respect of unsecured loans where the collections process indicates a loan 1s not
recoverable Any subsequent proceeds are recogmised on a cash basis and offset against 'imparrment on loans to
customers' In the income Statement An investment secunty is wntten off and any associated imparrment allowance
released when there 1s strong evidence to suggest that nothing will be recovered

Where a property has been taken into possession, or an LPA recever has been appointed to collect rental income on the
property, the loan continues to be carned within loans to customers’
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1 Principal accounting policies (continued)

() Impaiment (continued)

(n) Available-for-sale financial assets

Investment secunties classified as available-for-sale are carmed at far value which appropriately reflects any impairment
Impairment ts recogrised when the investment secunty exhibits objective evidence of impairment or 1s uncollectible  Such
evidence may include

Signtficant financial difficulty,

Payment defaults,

Renegotiation of terms due to borrower difficulty,

Sustained fall in credit rating or creditworthiness,

Significant restructunng,

Disappearance of an active market,

Significant and sustained fall in market pnce, or

Observable data indicating measurable decrease in the estimated future cash fiows from a group of financial assets,
although the decrease cannot yet be identified within individual assets in the group

Movements in the far value which are a reflection of impairment of the long term value of the investment secunty are
charged to ‘net impaiment on investment secunties’ In the Income Statement Impairment losses recogrised aganst
nvestment secunties are reversed through ‘net impairment on investment secunties’ In the Income Statement if the
improvement relates to an event occurnng after the inihial Impairment was recogrused An investment secunty 1s written off
and any associated impairment allowance released when there 1s strong evidence to suggest that nothing will be recavered

If there 1s a sustained increase In the far value of an investment secunty where an impairment loss has prevtously been
recognised, but no Improvement can be attributed to a subsequent credit event, then the increase in value may be treated
as a revaluation and recognised through other comprehensive income In the avallable-for-sale reserve

(k) Recognition and de-recogmition of assets and habilities

Purchases and sales of assels are accounted for once the parties are legally committed to the contract, completion 1s not
subject to any material conditions and the nisks and rewards of the loans have been transferred

A financial asset is de-recognised (1e, removed from the Balance Sheet) only when substantially all of the nisks and rewards
associated with that asset have been fransferred to another party

A financial hability 1s de-recognised onty when the contractual abhigation 1s discharged, cancelled or has expired

In accordance with IFRS 5 'Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations', assets and liabilihes are
classified as 'held for sale’ if they are available for immediate sale in their present condition and the sale 1s considered to be
‘highly probable’

(l) Debt and equity secunties in 1ssue

Issued secunties, including capital instruments, are classified as liabilites where the contractual arrangements result in the
1ssuer having an obligation to deliver esther cash or another financial asset to the secunty holder, or to exchange financial
instruments under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the 1ssuer Issued securities are classified as equity where
they meet the definition of equity and confer a residual interest in the 1ssuer's assets on the holder of the secunties Issued
secunities include ordinary and preference share capital Preference shares are classified as equity instruments where
dividend payments and redemptions are discretionary

On inral recogrution, debt issued 1s measured at its fair value net of directly attnbutable 1ssue and transaction costs
Subsequent measurement 1S at amortised cost using the EIR method to amortise attributable 1ssue and transaction costs,
premia and discounts over the life of the instrument These costs are charged along with interest on the debt to ‘interest
expense and similar charges’ In the Balance Sheet the carrying value of the instrument includes the amount of these
adjustments which stll remains to be charged to the Income Statement

Equity instruments (including share capital) are inhally recognised at net proceeds, after deducting transaction costs and
any related income tax

{m) Foreign currencies
The presentation and funclional currency of the Company and the presentation currency of the Group 1s pounds sterting
Transactions which are not denominated in pounds sterling are translated into sterling at the spot rate of exchange on the

date of the transaction Monetary assets and liabiihles which are not denomunated in pounds sterling are translated into
pounds sterling at the closing rate of exchange at the Balance Sheet date

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the restatement and settlement of such transactions are recogrused in the
Income Statement
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1 Prncipal accounting policies (continued)

{n) intangible assets
Intangible assets compnise capitalised computer software systems and licences

Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as intangible assets where it 1s probable that future benefits will flow
to the Group Thereafter they are carmed at cost less accumulated amortisation  Amortisation 1s provided on a straight line
basis over their useful economic lives which may be up to five years Those which have a life expectancy at the outset of
less than two years are not capitalised but instead their costs are charged to the Income Statement as they anse

Costs that are directly associated with developing identifiable computer software systems are capitalised if the cntena in IAS
38 ‘Intangible Assets' are satisfied, the main cnteria are that the successful completion of the development project 1s
reasonably certan and that the software 1s expected to generate future economic benefits Each item of capitalised
developed computer software 1s carmed at cost less accumulated amortisation, amorlisation 1s provided on a straight line
basis over its estmated useful life  Costs that do net qualfy for capitalisation or are associated with maintaining software
are charged to the Income Statement as they anse

intangible assets in the course of construction are not amortised until they have been completed The costs of financing
intangible assets in the course of construction are not mcluded in the costs of the assets Intangible assets in the course of
construction are included in the impairment test referred to below, where appropnate

All tems of intangible assets are reviewed at each published Balance Sheet date for any indication of impairment  if there 1s
indication of impairment, the carrying value 1s reviewed If any impairment 1s 1dentified, the asset 1s wniten down to the
imparred value, being the higher of value in use and estimated net proceeds of sale, with the imparrment being charged
immediately to the Income Statement |n addition, the estmated useful ives are also reassessed annually and If they are
judged to have changed then the rate of amortisation charged i penods after the date of the change reflects the revised
estimates

(o) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances which are highly iquid and have an oniginal matunity of three months or less

{p) Taxation
(1} Current tax

The charge for taxation 1s based on the result for the year and takes nto account taxation deferred or accelerated ansing
from temporary differences between the carrying amounts of certain items for taxation and for accounting purposes Tax
relating to tems which are taken directly to reserves i1s also taken directly to reserves

(1) Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s calculated using the hability method on temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and
habiliies and ther carrying amounts in the Financial Statements Deferred tax 1s determined using tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred tax asset 15 realised or the deferred tax liability 1s setied The pnncipal temporary differences anse from
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, revaluation of certan financial assets and lhabihties including denvative
contracts, provisions for pensions, and changes in accounting basis on adoption of IFRS

Deferred tax assets are recogmsed when it 1s probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these
temporary differences can be utiised

Deferred tax 1s provided on temporary differences ansing from investments in subsidianes and associates, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference 1s controlted by the Group and d 1s probable that the difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax related to far value remeasurement of avallable-for-sale investments and cash flow hedges, which are
recognised in other comprehensive income, 15 also recognised n other comprehensive income and subsequently in the
consolidated Income Statement together with the associated gain or loss

(q) Retirement benefits

The Group has operated a humber of retirement benefit plans for its employees, including defined contnbution plans and
defined benefit plans The costs of these plans are charged to the 'adminisirative expenses' line of the Income Statement
and to other comprehensive iIncome In accordance with 1AS 19 'Employee Benefits' and IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19 — The Limit on a
Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction’

A defined contnbution plan 1s a pension arrangement where the employer pays fixed contnbutions into a separate fund The
coninbutions are charged to the Income Statement when employees have rendered the related services, which i1s generally
in the pened of contribution The Group has no further payment obligations once the contnbutions have been paid Prepaid
contnbutions are recognised as an assel to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is availlable

A defined benefit pension plan i1s an arrangement that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive
dunng retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary
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1 Pnncipal accounting policies (continued)

{q) Retirement benefits (continued)

A full actuanal valuation of the Group's defined benefit sections of the existing schemes 1s undertaken every three years,
with intenm reviews in the intervening years, these valuations are updated at each published balance sheet date by qualfied
independent actuaries For the purpose of these updates, scheme assets are included at ther far value and scheme
habiittes are measured on an actuanal basis using the projected unit credit method The inflation assumption used to
determine benefit obhgations 1s RPI Details of the actuanal assumptions made are provided In note 18 The resufting net
surplus or deficit 1s included in full In the Group's and Company's Balance Sheet Retrement benefit remeasurements are
charged to retained earnings in full in the penod 1n which they occur, and pass through other comprehensive income rather
than the Income Statement The Group's Income Statement includes the current service cost of providing pension benefits,
the expected return on the scheme’s assets, net of administration costs, and the interest cost on the scheme's habilities
Following closure of the scheme, the current service cost (s nil

Though the scheme 1s in surplus on an accounting basis, it is in deficit on a trustee’s funding basis  The Group 1s committed
to a funding plan to address this defictt Surpluses on an accounting basis are only recogrused on the Balance Sheet to the
extent that they are recoverable through reduced contributions in the future or through refunds from the scheme The Group
1s considenng the potenhal impact of the IASB's exposure draft of possible changes ta IFRIC 14

For defined contrnbution plans, the Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid The
contnbutions are recognised as an employee benefit expense when they are due Prepaid contributtons are recogrised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments 1s avallable

(r) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cosi less accumulated depreciation and provision for impawment, as
appropriate  Addiions and subsequent expenditure are included in the asset's carrying value or are recognised as a
separate asset only when they mprove the expected future economic benefits to be derived from the asset All other
expenditure 1s regarded as reparrs and maintenance and 1s charged to the Income Statement in the penod m which it 1s
incurred Depreciation 1s provided so as to wnte off the cost less the estimated residual value of each significant component
of each item of property, plant and equipment over that component's estimated useful life, as follows

s Freehold land is not depreciated

s  Freehold and leasehold buddings 6 7% pa on a straight line basis
= Motor vehicles 25% pa on a reducing balance basis

Computer equipment 20% - 33% pa on a straight line basis
Fixtures and fittngs 20% pa on a strarght line basis

Other plant and equipment and major alterations to buildings 10% pa on a straight line basis or over the
remainting life of the building 1f shorter

All items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each published balance sheet date for any indication of
impairment  If there 15 indication of iImpairment, the carrying value 1s reviewed If any impairment i1s identified, the asset Is
written down to the higher of value In use and estimated net proceeds of sale, with the imparment being charged
immediately in the Income Statement In addition, the estmated useful ives and estimated residual values are also
reassessed annually, and if they are judged to have changed then the rate of depreciation charged 1n penods afier the date
of the change reflects the revised estimates

Assets in the course of construction are not deprecialed until they have been completed and transferred to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment The costs of financing assets in the course of construction are not included in the
costs of the assets Assets in the course of construction are included within the impairment test referred to above where
appropnate

A previously recognised impairment charge on an asset may be reversed in full or iIn part where a change in circumstances
leads to a change in the estimates used to determine its recoverable amount The carrying value of the asset will not be
Increased above the carrying value at which it would have been held had the impairment not been recognised

(s) Leases

Rentals under operating leases are charged to ‘administrative expenses’ on a straight line basis to the date of change in the
rental amount Typically, operating leases have rent review dates in their terms, several years apant, and between those
dates the annual rent remains constant Any initial rent-free penod and any lease premia paid are amortised over the full
lease penod on a straight ine basis

If a lease agreement in which the Group 1s a lessee transfers the nsks and rewards of the asset, the lease Is recorded as a
finance lease and the related asset 1s capitalised At inception the asset 1s recorded at the lower of the present value of the
minimum lease payments and farr value The asset 1s then depreciated in the same way as an owned asset over the shorter
of the useful life and the term of the lease The finance element of the lease cost 1s charged to the Income Statement in
"Interest expense and similar charges’ The lease obligations are recorded as borrowings If the lease does not transfer the
nsks and rewards of the asset, the lease 15 recorded as an operating lease

Where an operating lease 1s terminated before the lease perod has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor
in compensation is charged to the Income Statement in the peniod in which termination 1s made
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1 Pnncipal accounting pelicies (continued)

(s) Leases (continued)
Where the Group/Company leases assets out under an operating lease agreement, the asset 18 included in the Balance
Sheet based on the nature of the asset Lease income 1s recognised over the term of the lease on a straight line basis

Where the Group sells and leases back an asset, provided the sale and the lease are each on arm'’s length terms, the two
elements of the transaction are accounted for separately, with a profit or loss being immediately recognised on the sale

(t) Provisions and contingent habilities
Provisions are recogmsed when, and only when, the following criteria are all met

« there s a present obhigation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
+ itis probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settie the obhgation, and
* areliable estimate can be made of the amount of the abligation

Provisions are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and are released if they no longer meet the above critena

Provisions are discounted to net present value using rates which reflect the nsks specific to the provision, if the effect of
discounting I1s material

Contingent habiities are possible obligations whose existence depends upon the outcome of uncertain future events, or are
present obhgations where the outflows of resources are uncertain or cannot be rehably measured Contingent habiittes are
not recognised in the Balance Sheet but are disclosed unless they are remote

(u) Investment secunties held

Investment secunties are categonsed either as ‘avallable-for-sale’ or as ‘loans and recewvables’, for each instrument, the
Directors adopt the category which they constder to be the most appropnate

investment secunties categonsed as available-for-sale are carmed at far value, with movements in fair value, excluding
impairment provisions, being taken to the available-for-sale reserve If an investment secunty which has been categornsed
as avallable-for-sale becomes impaired, the impairment is charged to the income Statement in the ‘net imparment on
investment secuntes’ line

Investment secunties categonsed as loans and receivables are carned at amortised cost, less any impairment, with any
impairment being charged to the Income Statement in the ‘net impaurment an investment securties’ ine

Where the Directors believe it appropnate to do so, investment securties which were initially categonsed as ‘available-for-
sale’ have subsequently been re-categonsed to ‘loans and recevables’ in accordance with the revisions to 1AS 39 1ssued by
the IASB in October 2008

(v) Investments in Group undertakings

In the Financial Statements of the Company, investments in Group undertakings are camed at cost less any impairment
Investments are reviewed at each published Balance Sheet date for any indication of tmpawment if there 1s indication of
impairment of any investment, the carrying value of the investment i1s reviewed and any impairment identified 1s charged
immediately to the Company's Income Statement

{w) Financial guarantees
The Group and Company apply msurance accounting te financial guarantee contracts and provide aganst any clams
ansing under such contracts

(x) Loan commitments

Loan commitments are disclosed, but are accounted for only If there 1s an onerous commitment, there were no enerous loan
commitments in the current or previous year The commitment ceases to be disclosed once it 1s advanced or expires Loan
commitments compnise commitments to advance cash sums and to allow drawdown of monies previously overpaid (where
the terms of the loan specifically allow) [n respect of monthly drawdown products, the commitment reflects an estimate of
the future drawdowns to redemption

{y) Lifetme mortgages

The Group has a portfolio of Iifettme mortgage loans secured on residential propey Under the terms of the loans, where a
borrower dies or goes into long term care and a redemption receipt 1s less than the contractual sum owed the Group does
not have any further ability to recover amounts from the borrower or the estate  The Group accounts for lifetime loans in the
same way as other loans to customers, with all income eamed being accounted for as interest The loans are included
within ‘loans to customers' In respect of lifettme loans, iImpairment allowances on loans to customers include an additional
prowision reflecting estimated future impairment up to redemption
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2 Cntecal judgements and accounting estimates

In prepanng the Financial Statements management are required to make a series of judgements and estmates
Judgements involve an interpretation of requirements to decide how to allocate, value or recognise an tem Estimates anse
from using assumptions which result in a range of possible outcomes The most iImportant jJudgements and estimates used
in preparing these Financial Statements are descnbed below

{a) Impairment losses on loans

The Group reviews its loan impairment on a monthly basis and assesses individual impairment losses by reference to an
individual review of the underlying asset and utlises actual loss expenence to provide both probabilities of defaults and
property forced sale discounts across a portfolio of products  Collective impairment losses on loans are calculated using a
statistical model The key assumptions used in this model are the probabiiity of any balance entering into default as a
result of an event that had occurred pnor to the Balance Sheet date, the probability of this default resulting in possession or
write-off, and the eshmated subsequent loss incurred These key assumptions are based on observed data trends and are
updated on a regular basis within agreed methodology to ensure the impairment allowance 1s entirely representative of the
current portfolic  The accuracy of the impairment calculation would, therefore, be affected by unanticipated changes to the
economic situation and assumptons which differ from actual outcomes To the extent that house pnces were to change by
+I- 10%, the residential imparment allowance would be an estimated £20 9m lower (2015 £47 2m) or £23 8m higher (2015
£53 8m) respectively

(b) Provisions

Provisions are carried in respect of certain known or forecast future expenditure as descrnbed in note 26 Where the future
payment amount 1s unknown, provisions are set at a level which covers the estimated number of future payments and the
estimated average payment amount Prowvisions are calculated using the best available information but the actual future
outcomes of items provided for may differ from expectations

The PPi Provision has been increased by £60 3m following the publication of the Financial Conduct Authonty’s ('FCA’)
consultaton paper CP15/39 ‘Rules and guidance on payment protection insurance complaints’ which proposes the setting
of a deadline date for complaints in 2018 and provides guidance in relation to the Plevin case The proposals include an
FCA-led communicatrons campaign to raise awareness of the deadline 10 prompt those who intend to complan to act ahead
of the deadline If the proposals are agreed and implemented, we expect higher claim volumes in the run up to the
implementation of ime-barring than we have previously modelled

{¢) Fair value calculations

For the majority of instruments camed at farr value, far value 1s determined by reference 1o quoted market pnces or lead
manager prnices Where these are not available, fair value I1s calculated using discounted cash fiows applying independently
sourced market parameters including interest rates and currency rates Other factors are also considered, such as
counterparty credit qualty and hquidity Management must use judgement to arnve at estimates where not all necessary
data can be externally sourced or where factors specific to the Group’s holdings need to be considered The accuracy of
the farr value calculations may, therefore, be affected by unexpected market movements or vanations in actual outcomes
when compared to estimates and assumptions used for modeling purposes For example, If management were to use a
tightening in the credit spread of 10 basis points, the fair values of derivatives would decrease from the reported fair values
by £0 1m (2015 £12 8m)
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3 Net interest income

12 months to

12 months to

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m
Interest receivable and similar income
On secured loans 8240 11711
On other lending 446 543
On investment secunties and deposits 18 2 298
Total interest receivable and similar income 886 8 41,2552
Interest expense and similar charges
On amounts due to banks and HM Treasury (183 6) {218 6)
On debt securities and other (83 8) {145 2)
Total interest expense and similar charges {267 4) {363 8)
Net interest income 619 4 8914
Average balances
Interest-earming assets ('IEA) 23,105 34,630
Financed by
- Interest-beanng funding 18,895 31,151
- Interest-free funding” 4,210 3,479
Average rates % %
- gross yield on [EA 384 362
- cost of interest-beanng funding {142) (t17)
Interest spread 242 245
Contnbution of interest-free funding* 026 012
Net interest margin on average |EA 268 257
Average Bank Base Rate 050 050
Average 1-month LIBOR 051 050
Average 3-month LIBOR 058 0 55

* Interest-free funding 1s calculated as an average over the financial year and includes share capital and reserves

Total interest receivable and similar income includes interest accrued on individually imparred assets of £3 4m (2015

£5 2m)

4 Net realised gains less losses on investment securnities

Net realised gains less losses on investment secunties recogrised in the Income Statement compnsed the following

12 months to

12 months to

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m

Net reahsed gains on instruments at amortised cost 78 83
Total net realised gains on investment securtes 78 83
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5 Unreahsed fair value movements on financial instruments and hedge ineffectiveness

12 months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m

Net (loss)/gain in farr value
- translation {losses)/gains on underlying instruments (48 2) 190
- fair value movements on denvatives which are economic hedges but are notin

484 (50 6)
hedge accounting relationships

Unrealised fair value movements 02 (31 6)
Net gains on farr value hedging mstruments 72 61
Net losses on farr value hedged items attnbutable to hedged nsk (21 8) (15 4)
Ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges {7 3) 22
Net hedge neffectiveness losses (21 9) 71
Total (217) {387)

6 Administrative expenses

NRAM had no employees during the years presented as services were provided to NRAM by employees of B&B

NRAM had engaged a full-time equivalent of 13 temporary staff and specialist contractors at 31 March 2016 (31 March
2015 56)

12 months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m

Defined benefit pension costs (49) (37
IT costs 16 17
Outsourced and professicnal services 34 38
Depreciation and amortisation (see notes 19 and 20) 03 05
Other administrative expenses 175 76
179 99
Management recharge from B&B 597 796
Total administrative expenses 776 895

Auditors' remuneration
The following costs are included within admiristrative expenses

12 months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m
Fees payable to Company auditors for the statutory audit of the NRAM Company 0.3 02
and Group Financial Statements
Fees payable to Company auditors and their assoctates for other services
- the audit of the Company's subsidianes pursuant to legislation 01 -
- audit-related assurance services 01 01
Total 05 03

Amounts shown In the above analysis are exclusive of VAT

No separate disclosure has been provided of fees payable in respect of the Company as the consclidated Financial
Statements are required to disclose these fees on a consolidated basis as shown in the above table
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7 Loss on repurchase of own liabihities and equity

Total
Reserve Total losses Income
capital Subordinated taken to Tier one Debt secunities  Statement
12 months to 31 Mar 2016 Instruments notes reserves notes In issue losses
£m £m £m £m £m Em
Principal amount of instruments
repurchased - - - - 36319 36219
Amount paid to repurchase
instruments - - - - (4,1624) (4,1624)
Other net gans resulting from the
repurchase - - - - 5147 5147
Loss on repurchase - - - - (15 8) (15 8)
Reserve Total losses Total Income
capital Subordinated taken to Debt secunties  Statement
12 months to 31 Mar 2015 Instruments notes reserves Tier one notes In Issue losses
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Principal amount of instruments
repurchased 101 4 234 124 8 305 2230 2535
Amount pand to repurchase
instruments (176 8) (40 9) (2177 (397) (242 2) (281 9)
Other net gans/(losses) resulting
from the repurchase* 68 9 16 9 858 92 (0 6) 86
Loss on repurchase (6 5) {0 6) (7 1} - {19 8) {19 8)

* The other net gains and losses taken 10 reserves in 2014-15 were prncipally release of deferred coupons of £83 7Tm  The other net gans and
losses taken to the Income Statement were principally hedge adjustments

There were two Covered Bond acquisiton tender offers durning the year resulting in the purchase of all Covered Bonds
issued by NRAM at their far value The first offer closed on 5 May 2015 resulting in the purchase of notes with a face value
of £1,451 Om for cash of £1,782 2m including costs The second offer closed on 15 July 2015 resulting in the purchase of
notes with a face value of £2,180 9m for cash of £2,380 Zm including costs The losses on the acquisittons were offset by a
release of £514 7m which pnmanly comprsed accrued interest and hedge accounting adjustments These acquisihons have
reduced the ongoing funding cost to NRAM and further simplified the NRAM Balance Sheet

Dunng 2014/15 the Company bought back all of its remamning reserve capital instruments, subordinated notes and tier one
notes The losses on repurchase of reserve capital instruments and subordinated notes were reported in reserves as these
instruments were accounted for as equity A tax credit of £19 1m applied to the £7 1m loss on reserve capital instruments
and subordinated notes, giving a post-tax gain of £12 Om

8 Taxation

The tax charge for the year comprises

12 months to 12 months to

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m
Current tax
- on profit for the year (172 4) (105 9)
- adjustments in respect of prior periods 84 11
Tota! current tax (164 0) (104 8)
Deferred tax {see note 16)
- ongination and reversal of temporary differences {9 5) (11 9)
Total deferred tax (9 5) (119
Total taxation charge per the Income Statement {173 5) (116 7)
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8 Taxation (continued)

The following tax amounis have been credited/(charged) to equity 12months to 12 months to

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m

Current tax

- relating to available-for-sale investments (87) (13)

- relating to repurchase of equity (see note 7) - 191

Deferred tax

- relating to cash flow hedge reserve 485 (9 4)

- relating to retirement benefit remeasurements (114) (9 8)

Net credit/{charge) to equity 284 (14)

There was no foreign tax charged in the year (2015 £nil)
The tax charge on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would anse using the standard
weighted average rate of UK corporation tax of 20% (2015 21 0%) as follows

12 months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m
Profit before taxation 8430 558 9
Tax calculated at rate of 20% (2015 21 0%) (168 6) (117 4)
Effects of
- expenses not deductible for tax purposes {131) {(10)
- adjustments in respect of pnor penods 82 17
Total taxation charge for the year (173 5) (116 7)

The effective tax rate 1s higher than the statutory rate due to disallowable expenses in relation to PPI customer
compensatton costs following legistation that came into effect on 8 July 2015

9 Balances with the Bank of England

Group and Company 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m
Balances for hquidity purposes 1,3885 45819
Collateral balances 06 1,2792
Total 1,389 1 5,8711

Balances with the Bank of England represent cash hquidity and collateral held on account which earns Bank Base Rate

10 Investment securnities

Group and Company 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

Em £m
Available-for-sale secunties - 07
Investment secunties held as loans and receivables 3355 404 0
Unsecured investment loans - -
Total 3355 404 7

In the Balance Sheet the carrying values of mpaired assets are presented net of the impairment allowances shown in note
11

Net impaimment release on investment secunties for the year compnsed Group

12 monthsto 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m
Net impairment (charges)/reversals on available-for-sale secunties (0 5) 01
Net impairment reversals on investment secunties held as leans and
receivables and unsecured investment loans 56 143
Total net impairment release 51 14 4
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10 Investment secunties (continued)

(a) Available-for-sale securities

Group and Company 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m

Al fair value

Listed - 03

Unhsted - 04

Total - 07

The movement tn avalable-for-sale secunties was as follows
Group and Company

12 months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m
At start of year 07 185
Disposais (sales and redemptions) {07) {20 8)
Exchange differences - 13
Net gains on changes n far value - 17
At end of year - Q7

The net gains on changes in fair value include net imparrment reversals

(b) Investment securities held as loans and receivables
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

Group and Company £m £m
Carrying value 3355 404 0
Fair value 316 4 436 2
Listed 3273 394 1
Unlisted 82 99
Total 3355 4040

Note 33(a) provides further information regarding investment secunties which have been reclassified as loans and

recevables

{c) Unsecured investment loans

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
Group and Company £m £m

Carrying value -

Farr value 196 16 0

These unsecured investment loans are listed and are fully impaired

11 Wholesale assets

The assets in the following tables are of a wholesale nature as opposed to individual customer assets The credit and

concentratton nsk charactenstics of these portfolios should, therefore, be considered together

Group Company

31 Mar 2046 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m £m £m

Balances with the Bank of England (see note 9) 1,389 1 58711 1,389 1 58711
Cash at bank and in hand 56 3 669 5 56 3 5410
Investment securities (see note 10) 3355 404 7 3355 404 7
Total 1,780 9 65,3453 1,780 ¢ 6,816 8

The Group and Company had no collateral or other credit enhancements in respect of these assets
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11 Wholesale assets (continued)

(a) Credit nsk
Impairment 15 set out in the table below
Investment
Group Balances with Available-for- securities held Unsacured
the Bank of Cash at bank sale as loans and Investment
England and in hand secunties receivables loans Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Neither past due nor impaired 1,389 1 563 - 3255 - 1,770 8
Impaired - - 94 0 522 90 4 236 6
1,3891 563 94 0 3777 290 4 2,007 5
Provisions - - {94 0) (42 2) (90 4) {226 6)
Total 1,389 1 563 - 3355 - 1,780 9
Investment
Group Balances with Avatable- secunties held Unsecured
the Bank of Cash at bank for-sale as loans and investment
England and in hand securities receivables loans Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Neither past due nor impaired 58711 6695 - 3778 - 6,916 4
Imparred - - 1007 658 875 2540
58711 669 5 1007 443 6 875 71724
Provisions - - {100 O) {39 6) (87 5) (227 1)
Total 58711 669 5 07 404 0 - 6,945 3
Invastment
c n Batances with Available- securities held Unsecured
ompany the Bank of Cash at bank for-sale as loans and investment
England and in hand secunties recarvables loans Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m Em £m £m £m
Nerher past due nor impaired 1,3891 563 - 3255 - 1,770 9
Imparred - - 940 522 90.4 2366
1,3891 56.3 940 7 804 2,0075
Provisions - - {94 0) (42 2) (80 4) (226 6)
Total 1,389 1 563 - 3355 - 1,780 9
Investment
Compa Balances with Available- securtes held Unsecured
pany the Bank of Cash at bank for-sale as loans and nvestment
England and in hand secunties recewables loans Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Neither past due nor impaired 58711 5410 - 3778 - 6,7809
Impaired - - 1007 658 875 254 0
58711 5410 1007 443 6 8§75 7.043 9
Provtsions - - (100 O} (39 6) (87 5) (227 1)
Total 58711 5410 07 404 0 - 6,816 8
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11 Wholesale assets {continued)

{a) Credit nsk {continued)

The credit quality of wholesale assets by reference to credit ratings 1s set out in the table below

Group BBB CCC and
AAA AA A toB below
At 31 March 2016 £m % % % % %
Balances with the Bank of England 1,389 1 - 100 - - -
Cash at bank and in hand 56 3 - 25 25 50 -
Investment secunties
- available-for-sale securities - - - - - -
- investment secunties held as loans and receivables 3355 9 16 42 29 4
Total iInvestment secunties 3355 9 16 42 25 4
Total 1,780 9 2 82 9 6 1
Group BBB CCC and
AAA ARA, A to B below
At 31 March 2015 £m % % % % %
Balances with the Bank of England 58711 - 100 - - -
Cash at bank and in hand 669 5 28 12 57 3 -
Investment secunties
- avallable-for-sale securities 07 - - - - 100
- iInvestment secunties held as loans and receivables 404 0 8 20 28 40 4
Total nvestment secunties 404 7 8 20 28 40 4
Total 5,945 3 3 87 7 3 -
Company BBB CCC and
AAA AA A toB below
At 31 March 2016 £m % Yo % % %
Balances with the Bank of England 1,389 1 - 100 - - -
Cash at bank and in hand 563 . 25 25 50 -
Investment securties
- available-for-sale secunties - - - - - -
- investment secunties held as loans and receivables 3355 9 16 42 29 4
Total investment secunties 3355 9 16 42 29 4
Total 1,780 9 2 82 9 6 1
Company BBB CCC and
AAA AA A toB below
At 31 March 2015 £m % % % % %
Balances with the Bank of England 58711 - 100 - - -
Cash at bank and in hand 541 0 35 15 47 3 -
Investment secunties
- available-for-sale secunties 07 - - - - 100
- Investment secunties held as loans and receiwvables 404 0 8 20 28 40 4
Total nvesiment secunties 4047 8 20 28 40 4
Total 6,816 8 3 89 5 3 -
Additional information in respect of iImpaiment of investment secunties i1s provided in note 10
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11 Wholesale assets (continued)

(b} Concentration risk
Wholesale assets are analysed by geographical region at their carrying amounts in the tables betow

Group Other

UK Europe US countnies Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m
Balances with the Bank of England 1,389 1 - - - 1,389 1
Cash at bank and in hand 555 04 04 - 56.3
investment securities
- avallable-for-sale secunties - - - - -
- investment secunties held as loans and recewvables 216 7 918 149 121 3355
Total investment secunties 216 7 918 14 9 121 3355
Total 1,6613 92 2 153 121 1,780 9
Group Other

UK Europe us countrnies Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m £m
Balances with the Bank of England 58711 - - - 58711
Cash at bank and in hand 3350 3204 51 - 669 5
Investment securties
- available-for-sale securities - - 03 04 07
- investment secunties held as loans and receivables 2349 1306 236 14 9 404 0
Total investment secunties 2349 130 6 239 153 404 7
Total 6,441 0 4600 250 153 6,945 3
Company Other

UK Europe US countries Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m
Balances with the Bank of Engfand 1,3891 - - - 1,389 1
Cash at bank and in hand 555 04 04 - 56 3
Investment secunties
- avallable-for-sale securities - - - - -
- investment secunties held as loans and recewables 216.7 91.8 149 12.1 3355
Total investment secunties 216 7 918 149 121 3355
Total 1,661 3 922 153 12 1 1,780 9
Company Other

UK Europe us countries Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m £m
Balances with the Bank of England 58711 - - - 58711
Cash at bank and in hand 206 5 3294 51 - 5410
Investment securities
- available-for-sale secunties - - 03 04 o7
- investment secunties held as loans and receivables 2349 1306 236 149 404 0
Total investment secunties 2349 1306 239 153 404 7
Total 63125 460 O 290 153 6,816 8

At 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015 the Group and Company held no investment secunties 1ssued by the governments of
Portugal, the Republic of Ireland, Italy, Greece or Spain
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12 Loans to customers

Group and Company
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m
Residential mortgages 10,0857 24,1690
Commercial loans 1152 136 7
Total secured loans 10,1809 243057
Unsecured loans 3918 1,061 1
Total 10,5727 25,366 8

Residential mortgages include all of the Group’s buy-to-let loans Commercial loans compnse loans secured on commercial
properties The ‘Together' product, previously offered by the Group, combines a secured and unsecured loan all at one
interest rate  Cutstanding secured balances in respect of this product are included within total residential mortgages while
outstanding unsecured balances are included within unsecured loans

All of the Group's loans to customers are to UK customers
Balances include acceunting adjustments in respect of provisioning requirements

Loans to customers included loans amounting te £nil {31 March 2015 £18,111 2m) for the Group and Company which had
been sold to bankruptey remote SPVs whereby substantially all of the nsks and rewards of the portfolio were retained by the
Group/Company Accordingly, all of these loans were retained on the Group's/Company's Balance Sheets Further details
are provided n note 24

Far value adjustments on portfolio hedging amounting to £nil (31 March 2015 £53 2m) refated to interest rate denvatives
designated in a farr value portfolio hedge relationship

Loans to customers and redemptions comprnise the following product types

Balances Redemptions Balances Redemptions
At 31 Mar 12 months to At 31 Mar 12 months to
2016 31 Mar 2016 2015 31 Mar 2015
Group and Company £m % £m £m % £m
Residential mortgages
Buy-to-let 2,787 3 28 (351 8) 31314 13 (324 0)
Together 34799 34 (1,271 8) 9,962 5 41 {1,485 1)
Standard and other 3,798 5 38 (1,167 0) 11,0751 46 (1,6499)
Total residential mortgages 10,065 7 100 (2,790 6) 24,1690 100 (3,459 0)
Residental loans 10,0657 95 {2,790 6) 241690 95 (3,459 0)
Commercial loans 1152 1 {20 3) 136 7 1 (314)
Total secured loans 10,180 9 96 {2,810 9) 243057 96 (3,490 4)
Unsecured loans 3918 4 {35 2) 1,061 1 4 {104 6)
Total 10,5727 100 {2,906 1) 25,366 8 100 (3,595 0)

Redemptions compnse fult redemptions, voluntary partial redemptions and cash receipts from possessions but exclude
overpayments and regular monthly payments

At 31 March 2016 44% (31 March 2015 40%) of the Group's residential morigage accounts {excluding buy-to-let) held by
29,159 (31 March 2015 81,143) customers were 'Interest only' with 70% (31 March 2015 74%) of these having more than
ten years untl matunty

On 13 November 2015 UKAR announced that NRAM had agreed to sell a £13bn asset portfolio to affiiates of Cerberus,
which included £12bn of mortgages from the Granite secuntisation structure The sale of these Granite loans generated a
profit of £59 4m before tax recogrused in December when the beneficial interest of the loans transferred to Cerberus During
the year the Company also refeased £3 4m of warranty provisions relating to sales in earier penods, as these provisions
were no longer required Durmng 2014/15 the Company sold a portfolio of standard mortgages for £1 7bn realising a profit on
sale of £3 0m and released £4 Om of provisions relating to sales n earher penods These sales are excluded from the
redemptions disclosed in the above table

NRAM .
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13 Impairment on loans to customers

Allowances for credit losses against loans to customers have been made as follows

On residential  On commercial

On unsecured

Group and Company mortgages loans loans Total
£m £m £m £m
At 1 Apni 2015 3885 159 2051 609 5
Movements during the year
- write-offs (51 5) {3 9) {16 5) (71 9)
- loan impatrment (credit)/charge (37 2) {(27) 15 (38 4)
- sale of loan book (84 9) - (93 9) {178 8)
Net movements durning the year {173 6) (6 6) (108 9) {289 1)
At 31 March 2016 2149 9.3 86 2 320.4
The Income Statement {(credit)/charge compnses
- loan impairment {credit)/charge (37 2} @27 15 (38 4)
- recovenes net of costs {19 5) (30) - (22.5)
Total Income Statement (credit)/charge (56 7) (57} 15 (60.9)
On residenbal  On commercial On unsecured
Group and Company morgages loans loans Total
£m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2014 5450 279 2147 79186
Movements during the year
- write-offs {91 5) (10 5) 32 3) (134 3)
- loan impairment (credit)/charge (69 0) (15 227 (47 8)_
Net movements duning the year (160 5) {(120) 9 6) (182 1)
At 31 March 2015 3885 159 2051 609 5
The Income Statement (credit)/charge comprises
- loan impairment (credit)/charge {69 0) (15) 227 (47 8)
- recovenes net of costs {22 1) 07 - (228}
Total Income Statement (credit)/charge (91 1) (22) 227 (70 6)

in respect of Ifehme mortgages the allowances include an addtional provision reflecting estimated future impairment up to

redemption

In the Balance Sheet the carrying values of loans to customers are presented net of these allowances

14 Credit quality of loans to customers

In respect of loans to residential customers, the Group and Company hold collateral in the form of mortgages over
residential properties The fair value of this collateral was as follows

Group and Company
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m
Neither past due nor impaired 14,618 3 34,5751
Past due but not imparred 1,1850 2,744 0
Impartred 222 2 411 4
Total 16,025 5 37,7305

If the collateral amount on each individual loan were capped at the amount of the balance outstanding, and any surplus of
collateral values over balances outstanding ignored, the fair value of collateral held would be as follows

Group and Company

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m

Neither past due nor impaired 9,151 2 21,863 4

Past due but not impaired 8408 2,0591

Impaired 179 9 3411

Total 10,171 9 24,263 8
The impared balances above include the following carmying amount of assets in

possession, capped at the balance outstanding 27 3 64 3
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14 Credit quality of loans to customers (continued)

The fair value of the collateral 1s estimated by taking the most recent valuation of the property and adjusting for house price
inflation or deflation up to the Balance Sheet date

The indexed loan to value ('LTV') of residential loan balances, weighted by loan balance, falls into the following ranges

Group and Company

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

%o %
To 50% 77 g1
50% to 75% 315 274
75% to 100% 510 510
Over 100% 9.8 125
Total 100 0 1000

The average indexed LTV based on a simple average 1s 64 2% (31 March 2015 65 1%) and on a weighted average 1s

78 1% (31 March 2015 79 0%)

At 31 March 2016

At 31 March 2015

Residential Commercial Unsecured Residential Commergial  Unsecured

mortgages loans loans Total mortgages loans loans Total
Group and Company Em Em £m £m £m £m E£m £m
Neither past due nor impaired 9,235 5 957 3979 97281 220023 1394 10548 232865
Past due but not impaired
- less than 3 months 484 9 - 154 500 3 12238 24 481 1,2743
- 3 to 6 months 2132 - 57 218 9 509 1 - 167 5258
- over 6 months 157 6 - 591 2167 3606 - 1177 4783
Impaired 189 4 288 99 2281 kKYalvi 108 28 9 411 4

10,280 6 124 5 4880 10,8931 245575 1526 1,2662 259763

Impaiment allowances (214 9) (93) (96 2) (320 4) (388 5) (159) (205 1) (609 5)
k:l’::f’":’ef‘;‘::&“:;’:c';g‘ of 10,065 7 1152 3918 105727 24,1690 1367 10611 253668
Impawment allowances
- Individual 201 93 219 513 77 159 381 a17
- collective 194 8 - 743 2691 350 8 - 167 0 5178
Total impairment allowances 2149 93 96 2 3204 3885 159 2051 609 5

The above 1able includes balances within ‘neither past due

nor impaired’ which would have been shown as past due or

impaired other than due to renegotiation, these were loans where arrears were capitalised during the previous 12 months
These loans amounted to £1 2m (31 March 2015 £2 9m) A loan 1s eligible for capialisation of arrears only once the
borrower has complied with stnngent terms for a set penod
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14 Credit quality of loans to customers (conhnued)

Arrears and possessions on residential mortgages and unsecured loans
Arrears and possessions are monitored for the Group as a whole and also sphit by type of product

At 31 March 2016 At 31 March 2015
Residential Unsecured Residential Unsecured
Arrears 3 months and over
Nurmber of cases No 3,394 4,307 7,861 8,877
Proportion of total cases % 386 10.17 349 838
Asset value fm 5185 698 1,1355 147 8
Proportion of book % 515 17.81 470 13 92
Total value of payments overdue £m 251 173 503 263
Proportion of total book % 025 443 021 248
Possessions
Number of cases No 180 - 590 -
Proportion of total cases % 0.20 - 026 -
Asset value £m 338 - 793 -
Proportion of book % 034 - 033 -
Total value of payments overdue £m 286 - 64 -
Proportion of total book % 003 - 003 -
New possessions Neo 1,009 - 1,898 -
Total arrears 3 months and over and possessions
Number of cases No 3,574 4,307 8.451 8,877
Proportion of total cases % 406 1017 375 838
Asset value £m 5523 698 1,214 8 147 8
Proportion of book % 549 17 81 503 13 92
Total value of payments overdue £m 27 173 567 263
Proportion of total book % 028 443 024 248

In respect of all arrears (including those which are less than 3 months in arrears) together with possessions, the total
value of payments overdue was

Payments overdue
Total value of payments overdue £m 34 175 713 268
Proportion of total book % 0.33 447 030 253

Loan impairment provision
As % of tofal balances % 209 1972 158 16 20
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14 Credit quality of loans to customers (continued)

Analysis of residential mortgages and unsecured loans 3 months and over in arrears by product

At 31 March 2016

At 31 March 2015

Residential Unsecured Residential Unsecured
Buy-to-let
Number of cases No 243 - 405 -
Proportion of total cases % 117 - 174 -
Asset value £m 48 4 - 828 -
Proportion of book % 173 - 264 -
Total value of payments overdue £m 18 - 41 -
Proportion of total book % 007 - 013 -
Together
Number of cases No 1,357 4,307 3,652 8877
Proportion of total cases % 388 10 17 355 8 38
Asset value £m 1550 698 4090 3 147 8
Proportion of book % 445 17 81 41 1392
Total value of payments overdue £m 70 173 173 263
Proportion of total bock % 020 443 017 248
Standard and other
Number of cases No 1,794 - 3,804 -
Proportion of total cases % 556 - 383 -
Asset value £m 3151 - 643 4 -
Proportion of book % 830 - 581 -
Total value of payments overdue £m 163 - 289 -
Proportion of total book % 043 - 026 -
15 Investments in Group undertakings
Company
12 months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m
Al start of year - 01
Repayment of capital - {0 1)
At end of year - -

Certain subsidianes returned surplus capital to the Company during the previous year

The Directors consider the value of investments to be supported by their underlying assets

The following comparnies are fully consolidated into the Group Financial Statements, ail operate

incorporation  All are directly wholly-owned except where indicated

Nature of business

Country of ncorporation

in theirr country of

Class of shares held

Commurnity Housing Imtiatives Limited Non-trading UK Ordinary*
F&NE (1990) Limited Non-trading UK Ordinary™
F&NE Limited Non-trading UK Ordinary*
Heron's Reach Developments Limited Non-trading UK Ordinary
NRAM (No 2) Limited Non-trading UK Ordinary
NRAM Homes Limited Non-trading UK Ordinary

* The Group owns 50% of the shares of these companies

As descnbed In note 38(a), on 30 Apnl 2016 the Company transferred its investments in Group undertakings to NRAM

{No 1) Limited

NRAM
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15 Investments in Group undertakings (continued)

SPvs

The following entities are SPVs established in connection with the Group’s secuntisation and secured funding programmes
(see note 24) The Company has no contractual arrangement or intention to provide additional financial or other support to
these SPVs Although the Company has no direct or indirect ownership interest in these entities and no nghts to vote or to
recewve dividends, they are regarded as subsidianies This 1s because they are pnncipally engaged in prowiding a source of
long-term funding to the Group which, in substance, has the nghts to all benefits from the actwites of the SPVs They are,
therefore, effectively controlled by the Group The Company was a member of NRAM Covered Bond LLP until 30 April

2016
Country of incorporation
Nature of business and operation
GPCH Limited Post-enforcement call option holder UK
Granite Finance Funding Limited Holding company Jersey
Granite Finance Funding 2 Limited Holding company UK
Granite Finance Hotdings Limited Holding company UK
Granite Finance Trustees Limited Mortgage trustee Jersey
Granite Master lssuer plc Issue of secuntised notes UK
Granite Mortgages 03-2 plc Issue of secuntised notes UK
Granite Mortgages 03-3 plc Issue of secuntised notes UK
Granite Mortgages 04-1 plc Issue of secuntised notes UK
Granite Mortgages 04-2 plc Issue of secuntised notes UK
Granite Mortgages 04-3 plc Issue of secuntised notes UK
Moore Investments Limited Member of NRAM Covered Bond LLLP Jersey
NRAM Covered Bond LLP Mortgage funding UK
Whinstone Capital Management Limited Issue of credit inked notes Jersey
Whinstone 2 Capital Management Limited Issue of credit linked notes Jersey
Summarnised financial information for matenal SPVs
Set out below 1s summansed financial information for each matenal SPV
Debt securities in issue Net assets Profit after tax

At 31 March At 3t March At 31 March At 31 March

12 months to

12 months to

2016 2015 2016 2015 31 March 2016 31 March 2015
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Granite Mortgages 03-2 plc - 2305 01 04 (03) {09)
Granite Mortgages 03-3 ple - 204 3 01 02 ©1) on
Granite Mortgages 04-1 ple - 334 4 01 04 (03) 07
Granite Mortgages 04-2 plc - 3515 01 01 02 ©3)
Granite Mortgages 04-3 plc - 414 8 01 02 {¢1) @ 3)
Granite Master Issuer plc - 8,097 1 05 (386 40 145
Granite Finance Funding Limited - - 1} 03 02 -
Granite Finance Funding 2 Limited - - - 01 01) -
Whinstone Capital Management Limited 789 238 4 02 48 4 (48 2) {13)
Whinstone 2 Capital Management Limited - 174 5 - 490 (49 0) 33

The majonty of the secuntised notes 1ssued by the above companies were redeemed during December 2015 and January
2018, following the sale of mortgages detalled in note 12 The remaining notes issued by Whinstone Capital Management
Limited were subsequently redeemed in Apnl 2016, as described in note 38(b)
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16 Deferred taxation

The net deferred taxation hability 1s attnbutable to the following

Assets Liabilities Net
Group and Company 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m £m £m £m
Changes in accounting basis on adoption - 69 - 31} 38
of IFRS
Cash flow hedges - - - (48 7) (48 7)
Accelerated tax depreciatton - 14 - - - 14
Employee benefits 23 23 {45 9) (30 2) (43.6) (27 9)
23 106 {45 9) (82 0) {43.6) (71 4)
Offset {23) {10 6} 23 1086 - -
Total - - (43 6) (714) {436) (71 4)

The Group and Company had no deferred tax assets unrecognised at 31 March 2016 (31 March 2015 £nl)

The movements in the Group's and Company’s temporary differences dunng the current and previous year were as follows

At1 Apnl Recognised in Recognised in At 31 March
2015 income equity 2016
Group and Company £m £m £m £m
Changes in accounting basis on adoption of IFRS 38 (3 8) - -
Cash flow hedges 48 7) - 487 -
Accelerated tax depreciation 14 {14) - -
Employee benefits {27 9) {4 3) (11 4) {43 6)
Total {71 4) {9 5) 373 (43 6)
At1April  Recognisedin  Recognised in At 31 March
2014 income equrty 2015
Group and Company £m £m £m £m
Changes in accounting basis on adoption of IFRS 89 51) - 38
Cash flow hedges {39 3) - {9 4) (48 7)
Accelerated tax depreciation 11 03 - 14
Employee benefits {(110) (7 1) {9 8) (27 9)
Total (40 3) (11 9) (19 2) {71 4)
17 Other assets
Group Company
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m Em £m
Prepayments and accrued ncome o8 11 08 11
Other 197 190 196 188
Total 205 201 204 199
NRAM o
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18 Retirement benefit assets

(a) Pension schemes

Northern Rock plc operated a staff pension scheme, which was closed in 2010 and 15 now known as the NRAM Scheme
The assets of the NRAM Scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund The normal pension age of employees
in this Scheme 15 60 The NRAM Scheme provided benefits to employees on a final salary basis Deferred pension
entittement increases are calculated by reference to the Retall Pnces Index (RP{) The trustees of the NRAM Scheme are
responsible for ensunng the NRAM Scheme meets its Statutory Funding Objective which 1s set by The Pensions Regulator
The Trustee of the NRAM Scheme has passed a resolution for the ultimate refund to NRAM of any future surpluses on the
NRAM Scheme As detailled in note 38(a) on 30 Apnl 2016 the NRAM Scheme transferred to NRAM (No 1) Limited

The cost to the Group of funding the NRAM Scheme guaranteed benefits vares over time, dependent on market conditions
and ife expectancies The credit in the year was £4 9m (31 March 2015 £3 7m) and the retirement benefit remeasurement
gain recognised in other comprehensive income durnng the year was £57 4m (2015 gain £48 9m)

As at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015 the NRAM Scheme was in surplus on an accounting basis but in deficit on a
trustee's funding basis Under an agreed recovery plan to address this deficit, the Group s committed to making annual
coninbutions to the NRAM Scheme up to and including Apnl 2019 Under this plan the Group has contnbuted £15 3m in the
year and the leve! of contnbutions will be reassessed each year

Following the nationahsation of Northern Rock plc in 2008, the NRAM Scheme’s trustees disposed of the majonity of the
return-seeking assets, retaiming a small holding in private equity funds, the remaining assets are split between gilts and
corporate bends The NRAM Scheme has instigated a hability-driven investment programme to hedge approximately 85% of
the interest rate nsk and 86% of the inflation nsk

{b) Defined benefit section of the NRAM Scheme
The amounts carned on the Group Balance Sheet are as folfows

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m
Present value of defined benefit obligatrons (583.4) (608 2)
Fair value of defined benefit assets 8128 758 1
Net defined benefit asset 2294 1519

The amounts recognised 1n the Group Income Statement were as follows

12 months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m
Net interest income 49 37
Total recggmsed in the Income Statement 49 37

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows

12 months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m
At start of year 606 2 4807
Interest on defined benefit obligations 203 218
Remeasurements
- effect of changes in demographic assumptions 205 -
- effect of changes n financial assumptions (38 1) 1193
- effect of expenence adustments {8 8) 33
Benefits paid from plan {16 7) 123
At end of year 583 4 606 2
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18 Retirement benefit assets (continued)

{b) Defined benefit section of the NRAM Scheme (continued)

Movements in the fair value of defined benefit assets were as follows

12 months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m
At start of year 7581 546 0
Interest income on defined benefit assets 251 255
Defined benefit company contnbutions 153 340
Remeasurements
- return on plan assets (excluding interest income) 310 164 9
Benefits paid from plan {16 7) (12 3)
At end of year 812 8 758 1
The major categones of defined benefit assets at the end of the year were as follows
31 March 2016 31 March 2015
Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted  Unquoted Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Equity instruments - 2243 2243 - 2259 2259
Bonds
- of which UK 634 - 634 652 - 652
Liabiity hedging investments 5129 - 512.9 4192 - 4192
Cash and cash equivalents 122 - 12.2 478 - 478
Total 588 5 224 3 8128 5322 2259 758 1
{c) Assumptions
Summary actuanal assumphions {(expressed as weighted averages) were as follows
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
To determine benefit obhgatons
Discount rate 3 6% 3 4%
Inflation (RPI) 3 0% 31%

Future pension increases
To determine net pension cost
Discount rate

185% -3 55%

3.4%

30% -3 55%

4 6%

in determining the expected long-term return on defined benefit assets, the Company considered the current level of
expected retums on nsk-free investments {pnmanly government bonds), the histonical level of nsk premium associated with
the other asset classes in which the portfolio 1s invested and the expectations for future returns on each asset class The
expected return for each asset class was then weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-

term return for the pertfolio

The table below shows the life expectancy assumptions from age 60

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

Non-retired Non-retired

Pensioner member Pensioner member

Male 289 307 278 293
Female 312 330 o2 318

{d) Matunty profile of the obligation

The defined benefit pension scheme has a weighted average matunty of around 23 years

(e) Sensitivity

The following table dlustrates the sensitity of the defined benefit pension Scheme obligations to three key assumptions the

discount rate, the rate of inflation and the mortality assumption

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on obligations
Discount rate Decrease by 0 5% Increase by 12%
Inflation Increase by 0 5% Increase by 9%
Mortality Decrease by 1 year Increase by 2%

If the assumptions were to change by the same amount in the opposite direction to these illustrated, the obligations would
decrease by a similar percentage to those shown in the table in each case

NRAM
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19 Property, plant and equipment

Plant, equipment,

Land and fixtures, fittings
Group and Company buildings and vehicles Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2015 03 17 20 !
Transfer to fellow subsidiary (0 3) (11) (14)
Disposals - (0 6) {0 6)
At 31 March 2016 - - -
Depreciation
At 1 Apnl 2015 - 11 11
Charged in year 01 01 02
Transfer to fellow subsidiary (01) {0 6) {07)
Disposals - {0.6) {0 6)
At 31 March 2016 - - -
Net book amount
At 1 Apnl 2015 03 06 09
At 31 March 2016 - - -
Plant, equipment,
Land and fixtures, fithings
Group and Company buldings and vehicles Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2014 - 17 17
Additions 03 01 04
Disposals - 01 {01 '
At 31 March 2015 03 17 20
Deprectation
At 1 Apnl 2014 - 10 10
Charged In year - 02 02
Disposals - (0 1) ©1
At 31 March 2015 - 11 11
Net book amount
At 1 Apnl 2014 - Q7 07
At 31 March 2015 03 06 09

In preparation for the intra-group reorganisation descrnbed in note 38(a), certain assets were transferred to B&B at ther

wrntten down value

All assets disposed of In the year and previous year had already been fully amortised, and no sale proceeds were received,

and hence there was no profit or loss on sales

NRAM
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20 Intangible assets

Group and Company

£m
Cost
At 1 Apn) 2015 12
Transfer to fellow subsidiary {12}
At 31 March 2016 -
Impairment and amortisation
At 1 April 2015 07
Amortisation charged in the year 01
Transfer to fellow subsidary {0 8)
At 31 March 2016 -
Net book amount
At 1 Apnl 2015 05
At 31 March 2016
Group and Company

£m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2014 and 31 March 2015 12
Impairment and amortisation
At 1 Apnil 2014 04
Amortisation charged in the year 03
At 31 March 2015 07
Net book amount
At 1 April 2014 08
At 31 March 2015 05

Intangible assets compnse capital'sed computer software systems and licences

In preparation for the intra-group reorgamisation described in note 38(a), certain assets were transferred toc B&B at their

written down value

21 Amounts due to banks

Group Company

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m £m

Cash collateral received (see note 34) 1,682 2 06 1,262 0
22 Other deposits

Company

31 Mar 2018 31 Mar 2015

£m £m

Amounts due to secuntisation SPVs 369 8,767 5

Amounts due to other substdianes 01 22

Total 370 8,769 7

Amounts due to secuntisation SPVs pnncipally represented the beneficial interesis held m morgage portfolios by
securiisation SPVs (see note 24) Because the mortgage loans did not qualify for de-recogmtion from the Company's
Balance Sheet, the securitisation SPVs' beneficial interests in the mortgage portfolios were represented by a deemed loan
to the Company This was equivalent in value to the beneficial interests in the mortgage portfelios plus associated intra-

Group balances directly relating to the beneficial interests in the mortgage portfolios

NRAM
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23 HM Treasury loans

Group and Company
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m
Amount due to HM Treasury 7,4656 13,656 1

The HM Treasury loan i1s repayable on demand Interest has been charged at Bank of England Base Rate + 100 bps since 4
May 2012 {pnor to that date interest was charged at Bank of England Base Rate + 25 bps) As detailed in note 38(a), on 30
Apnil 2016 this loan was transferred to NRAM (No 1) Limited

24 Debt securnities 1n issue

Secuntised Covered
notes Bonds Other Total
Group £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2015 9,413 0 5146 9 2383 14,798.2
Repayments {9,364 5) {1,082 9) (32 4) (10,479.8)
Repurchases - {3,631 9) - (3,631 9)
Other movements (25) {432 1) {18) (436 4)
At 31 March 2016 46 Q - 204 1 250 1
Secuntsed assets 69 4 - . 69 4
Securitised Covered
notes Bonds Other Total
Group £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2014 12,396 6 5,704 8 366 1 18,467 6
Repayments (2,581 0) - (122 9) (2,703 9)
Repurchases (223 0) - - (223 0)
Other movements (179 6) (558 0) (4 9) (742 5)
At 31 March 2015 94130 5,146 9 238 3 14,798 2
Secunitised assets 13,488 2 8,5338 - 220220
Reserve fund 1,004 6 167 - 1,021 3
Secuntised Covered
notes Bonds Other Total
Company £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2015 - 5146 9 2383 5,385 2
Repayments - {1,082 9) (32 4) {1,115 3)
Repurchases - {3,631 9) - {3,631 9)
Qther movements - (4321) {18) {433 9)
At 31 March 2016 - - 204 1 204 1
Secuntised Covered
notes Bonds Other Total
Company £m £m £m E£m
At 1 Apnl 2014 - 57049 366 1 6,071 0
Repayments - - (122 9) (122 S}
Other movements - {558 O} 49 (562 9)
At 31 March 2015 - 5,146 9 2383 5,385 2
Secuntised assets - 8,5338 - §,5338
Reserve fund - 16 7 - 16 7
Other movements comprise exchange rate movements, accrued interest and hedge accounting adjustments
NRAM a2
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24 Debt securities in 1ssue (continued)

The Group issued debt securities to secuntise loans to customers through SPVs and Covered Bonds and also raised
unsecured medium term funding, the amounts of which are shown above Certain of these have been subject to fair value
hedge designation and the carrying values of these instruments include unamortised adjustments In respect of the notes
that were hedged

HM Treasury provided guarantees with regard to certain wholesale borrowings of the Company, the Group paid a fee for
these guarantees at the rate of £12 Om per annum The fee was not dependent on balances outstanding and hence it I1s
included within 'fee and commission expense’ As detalled In note 38(a), these guarantees ceased on 5 May 2016

Secunised assets represent loans to customers which have been used to secuntise 1ssued notes, including notes which are
held by other comparnies in the UKAR Group, and cash balances

{a) Securttised notes

The Group's results include the results, assets and habilihes of securitisation SPVs on a hne-by-line basis, none of which
qualify for de-recogntion under IAS 39 Secunitised assets are subject to non-recourse finance arrangements These assets
are pnmanly loans to customers which have been purchased at par from the Company, the purchase being funded through
the 1ssue by the SPVs of mortgage-backed bonds The Company passes to the SPVs cash received in relation to the
securthsed assets The SPVs use the cash to service the bonds, retain a margin specified under the terms of the 1ssue and
return any surplus cash to the Company To the extent that the total cash receipts in relation to the securtised assets are
insufficrent to satisfy interest and principal payments in relation to the bonds, the holders of the bonds have no recourse
against the Group Provided that the total cash receipts in relation to the secunitised assets are sufficient to satisfy interest
and principal payments in relation to the bonds, the Company bears the cost of any imparment of the securiised assets
While the assets remain secuntised, the Group may not use, sell or pledge these assets

As detaled in note 12, dunng the year the Company sald £12bn of mortgages from the Granite secuntisation structure
Following this sale, all of the remaining Granite notes In 1ssue were redeemed, along with the majonty of the Whinstone
notes In 1ssue

As detaled in note 38(b), the rematning securties issued by Whinstone Capital Management Limited have been redeemed
since the Balance Sheet date

{b) Covered Bonds
During the year all the Covered Bonds in 1ssue were repurchased by the Company and cancelled (see note 7) The process
of winding up NRAM Covered Bond LLP has begun and I1s expected to be completed in 2016

{c) Other debt secunties in 1ssue
Other debt secunties m 1ssue compnse notes issued under the Company's Mecium Term Notes programme, these were
transferred to NRAM (No 1) Limited on 30 April 2016, as described in note 38(a)
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25 Other habilites

Group Company
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m £m £m £m
Accruals and deferred income 200 90 200 90
Other 18156 412 1815 410
Total 2015 502 2015 500
Other habilities include £2 9m (31 March 2015 £14 2m) owed to B&B
26 Provisions
Customer Onerous
redress contracts Total
Group and Company £m £m £m
At 1 April 2015 3655 30 3685
Utiised in the year {32 8} (12) {340)
Charged in the year 706 - 706
Released in the year (268 3) - {268 3)
At 31 March 2016 1350 18 136 8
Customer Onerous
redress contracts Total
Group and Company £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2014 133 ¢ 45 138 4
Utihsed in the year (55 7} {15) (57 2)
Charged in the year 287 3 - 287 3
At 31 March 2015 3655 30 3685

Although we aim for excellence in customer and debt management, we continue to deal with several legacy i1ssues including
PPl and we continue to do the right thing for our customers and redress where appropnate

In July 2015 the Court of Appeal found in NRAM’s favour that customers with loans greater than £25,000 should not receive
remediation n ine with Consumer Credit Act (‘{CCA’) customers despite receiing the same incorrect documentation As a
result the £268 3m prowision refating to this matter was released

UKAR remains committed to doing the nght thing for our customers and where we identify issues that have caused
customer detnment, we will ensure that they are fully remediated  An additional provision of £70 6m has been recognised,
of which £60 3m relates to an increase in PP provisions following the publication of the FCA's consultation paper CP15/39
‘Rules and guidance on payment protection insurance complamnts’ which proposes the setting of a deadline date for
complaints in 2018 and provides guidance i relation to the Plevin case The proposals include an FCA-led communications
campaign to raise awareness of the deadline to prompt those who intend to complain to act ahead of the deadline If the
proposals are agreed, we expect higher claims volumes In the run up to the implementation of time-barnng than we have
previousty modelled

All customer redress payments are expected to be processed dunng the year to 31 March 2017 except for PP, the majonty
of which 1s expected to be processed by spnng 2018 to align with the expected deadline date in the FCA consultation paper

The Group, in addition to the above, 1s also subjected to other complaints and legal proceedings, as well as legal and
regulatory reviews, chailenges, investigatons and enforcement achons Al such matenal matters are penodically
reassessed and professional expert advice 15 taken on these assessments where appropnate A provision 1s recognised
when the cntena are all met in accordance with the refevant accounting standards (see note 1 {t)) tn socme cases it will not
be possible to form a view, for example because the facts are unclear or because further time 1s needed properly to assess
the ments of the case, and no provisions are held in relation to such matters However the Group does not cumrently expect
the final outcome of any such case to have a matenal adverse effect on its financial position, operations or cash flows

The onerous contracts provision relates to empty leasehold premises which, as at the Balance Sheet date, were no longer
used by the business but were subject to lease agreements The rental payments are due to be made dunng the pencd to
2022 These leases were transferred to NRAM (No 1} Limited on 30 Apnl 2016 (see note 38(a))
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27 Capital instruments

Group and Company At 31 March 2016 At 31 March 2015

Carrying Carrying
Initial amount Principal amount Principal
interest rate £m £m £m £m
Subordinated loan 11 734% 41 40 93 80
Total subordinated habilities 41 40 93 80

These capital instruments are all denominated in Sterling

The carrying values of these instruments 1s measured on an amortised cost basis, as adjusted hedge accounting
adjustments

Of the subordinated loan, £4 Om was repaid during the year, and the remaining £4 Om 1s repayable in December 2016
Redemptions of any subcrdinated liabiities prior to their final matunty date are subject to obtaining pnor consent of the FCA
The nghts of repayment of holders of subordinated hiabilites are subordinated to the claims of other creditors

28 Share capital

Group and Company
Issued and fully paid at 1 Apnl 2014, 31 March 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
and 31 March 2016 Number Number £m £m
Ordinary shares of 25p each 496 Om 495 6m 1240 1239
Perpetual non-cumulative callable Preference shares
of 25p each - 04m - 01
Total 496 Om 496 Om 124 0 1240

In accordance with the Compantes Act 2006, the Company no longer has authorised capital other than its 1ssued capital
The Crdinary shares rank equally in respect of nghts attached to voting, dividends and in the event of a winding up
The Preference shares were converted into QOrdinary shares in June 2015

No dividends were declared or paid in the current or previous year on the Company's Ordinary or Preference shares No
dividends had been proposed by the date of approval of these Financial Statements

29 Reserves

Reserves compnse the following

Group Company

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m £m £m

Share premium reserve 403 2 403 2 403 2 403 2
Capital redemption reserve 73 73 73 73
Avatlable-for-sale reserve {15 8) (24 6) {15 8) {24 6)
Cash flow hedge reserve - 1837 - 194 1
Total 3947 569 6 3947 5800

The share premium reserve represents the excess of the consideration received for 1ssued shares over the nominal value of
those shares, net of transaction costs

The capital redemption reserve was created to maintain the total amount of capital when shares were repurchased by the
Company
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29 Reserves (continued)

Group Company

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

Available-for-sale reserve £m £m £m £m

At start of year {24 6} (299 (24 6) (29 9)

Amounts recognised in equity 147 (6 8) 147 (6 8)
Amounts transferred to net income (59) 121 (59) 121

At end of year {15 8) {24 6) (15 8) {24 6)

The available-for-sale reserve represents cumulative farr value movements on assets classified as available-for-sale

Group Company

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

Cash flow hedge reserve £m £m £m £m
At start of year 1837 1329 194 1 156 8

Amounts recognised in equity {1,029 5) 671 2) (1,028 5) (312 6)
Amounts transferred to net iIncome 8458 7220 8354 349 9
At end of year - 1837 - 194 1

The cash flow hedge reserve represents cumulative fair value movements on financial instruments which are effective cash
flow hedges

30 Off-Balance Sheet commitments payable

Within in one to Qver five

Group and Company one year five years years Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m
Loan commitments

- ifetime mortgages 06 19 28 53
- other loans 4120 - - 4120
Total loan commitments 4126 19 28 4173
Operating lease commitments

- land and buildings 09 36 22 67
Total 4135 55 50 4240

Within In one to Over five

Group and Company one year five years years Total
At 31 March 2015 £m Em £m £m
Loan commitments

- ifettme mortgages 07 23 36 66
- other loans 1,2395 - - 1,239 5
Total loan commitments 1,240 2 23 36 1,246 1
Operating lease commitments

- land and buildings 09 36 76 121
Total 1,241 1 59 11 2 1,258 2

Loan commitments represent contractual amounts to which the Group/Company 1s committed for extension of credit to
customers In respect of Iifetme morigages the commitment reflects estimates of future drawdowns On other loans, the
commitment compnses cash which could be drawn down by customers in respect of further advances and re-drawal of
amounts veluntanly overpaid

Operating lease commitments represent mimmum future lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases These
leases were transferred to NRAM (No 1) Limited on 30 Apnl 2016 (see note 38(a))
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31 Related party disclosures

{a) Key management personnel
The Group considers the Board of Directors and the members of the Executive Committee to be the key management
personnel There were no amounts owed to or by key management personnel at any time dunng the year (2015 £nil)

A summary of the Group's share of the remuneration of the 15 (2015 15) key management personnel 1s set out in the table
below These amounts include the Group's share of the remuneration of the Directors which 1s set out in more detail in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 31 to 46 of the 2016 Annual Report and Accounts of UKAR The Directors’
Remuneration Report gives detals of the UKAR Group's Directors' salanes, fees, bonuses, pension benefits, other
tncentives and other benefits The aggregate UKAR Group emoluments of the UKAR Group's Directors were £2,159,628
{2015 £1,459,251) and the emoluments of the highest paid Director were £966,611 (2015 £653,227) Included In these
amounts are E£nil (2015 £nif) which the Group paid into the Group's money purchase pension scheme In addition, Directors
paid £nidl (2015 E£mil) into this scheme In 2015/16 the NRAM Group bore half of the cost of the UKAR Directors in its Income
Statement, the other half being bome by B&B Included in the NRAM Group's Income Staternent, the aggregate Directors'
emoluments and the emoluments of the highest paid Director amounted to £1,079,814 and £483,306 respectively (2015
£729.625 and £326.614 respectively) The UKAR Group did not make any loss of office payments to Directors during the
year (2015 £nil) The key management personnel contributed £45,000 (2015 £42,000) to UKAR Group penston schemes
dunng the year

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

Remuneration of key management personnel £000 £000
Short-term employee benefits 2,101 1,418
Post-employment benefits 157 149
Total 2,258 1,567

Further details of the accounting treatment of pensions and of the Group's and Company's transactions and balances with
the Group's pension schemes are given in note 18 There were no amounts due to or from the schemes at 31 March 2016
(31 March 2015 £nil)

{b) UK government

As descnbed in note 37, the Company considers the UK government to be its ultimate controling party The Group's
matenal balances with departments and bodies of the government comprise deposits with the Bank of England (see note 9)
and loans from HM Treasury (see note 23} HM Treasury has also provided guarantee arrangements to the Group, for
which the Group pays fees In addition to these loans and guarantees, the Group has balances and transactions with
numerous government bodies on an arm's length basis in relation to the payment of corporation tax and VAT and the
payment of regulatory fees and fevies The Group has balances and transactions with UKFI and with banks over which the
UK government has significant influence, these were made in the ordinary course of business and are not unusual n their
rature or conditions

(c) Subsidiary companies
Balances outstanding with subsidiary companies and movements in these balances were as foliows

Securitisation Other 2016 Secuntisation Other 2015

SPVs subsidianes Total SPVs subsidianes Total

Payables £m £m £m £m £m £m
At start of year 8,767 5 22 8,769 7 11,454 7 22 11,456 9
Net movement over the year {8,730 6) (21) (8,7327) (2,687 2) - {2,687 2)
At end of year 369 01 370 8,767 5 22 8,769 7

The Company held £32 9m of loan notes 1ssued by SPV subsidiaries at 31 March 2016 (31 March 2015 £631 4m) In order
to avoid recogrising the underlying mortgage assets twice, the secunties are netted off the Company's habiltties to the
substdianes which 1ssued the secunties
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31 Related party disclosures (continued)

{d} Fellow subsidiary

The Company held £33 8m of loan notes 1ssued by B&B at 31 March 2016 (2015 £39 4m) Interest income earned by the
Company on these notes dunng the year amounted to £0 3m (2015 £0 4m) The Group incurred interest expense of £0 6m
(2015 £0 9m) dunng the year on loan notes 1ssued by the Group and held by B&B B&B held £65 8m of these loan notes at
31 March 2015, these were redeemed during the year

During the year B&B recharged a total of £81 3m (2015 £89 1m) to the Company
At 31 March 2016 the Company owed £2 9m to B&B (2015 £14 2m)

(e} Parent company
During the year the Company was charged £0 3m (2015 £0 3m) by UKAR for the services of Non-Executive Directors

32 Capital structure

The Company met its capital requirements in full throughout 2015/16 and 2014/15 NRAM 15 regulated by the FCA as a
mortgage admurustration company under the MIPRU regime MIPRU regulation 1s applied at individual company level, not at
NRAM Group level The Board considers core equity, formerly tier 1 capital, to be of pre-eminent importance in the capital
structure of the business and continues to monitor this closely, In addition to the total level of capital The Directors believe
the Company has appropnate and adequate levels of capital to support its activiies While FCA rules require the Company
fo hold capital In excess of 1% of total Balance Sheet assets plus any undrawn commitments, the Board believes it
appropnate to hold a higher level of capital and as at 31 March 2016 caprtal in the Company represented 33 2% (31 March
2015 10 6%) of the Company's assets

The table below sets out the Company's regulatory capital resources under MIPRU
At 31 March At 31 March

2016 2015
Company £m £m
Share capital and reserves 4,403 6 3,8645
Available-for-sale reserve adjustments 158 246
Cash flow hedge reserve adjustments - (194 1)
Net pension adjustment {229 4) (151 9)
Less deductions - {07)
Total capital 41800 3,542 4

The primary objectives of the Company's capital management are to maintain capital resources to support the objectives of
the business, to cover rnisks inherent in its activities and to ensure comphiance with externally imposed capital requirements
The capital structure 15 managed in response to changes in the nature of the Company's activities and economic conditions

The Company defines eguity and certain other capital instruments as capital Capital excludes accounting reserves for
available-for-sale assets and cash flow hedges The Company's capital adequacy and capital resources are managed and
monitored In accordance with the regutatory capital rules of the FCA The Company must at all times monitor and
demonstrate compliance with the relevant regulatory capital requirements of the FCA The required capital information 1s
filed with the FCA on a quarterly basis
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313 Fwnancal instruments

(a} Categories of financial assets and financial habihties carrying value compared to fair value

The followng table summanses the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and habilities Assets are generally
presented at bid pnces, whereas offer pnces are used for habiities The accounting policy note 1(f) sets out the key
principles used for estimating the fair values of financial instruments Note 33(f) provides some additional information in

respect of the methodologies used

Assets at
fair value Total
Group Available- through Loans and Hedging carrying Fair
for-sale profitorloss receivables adjustments value value
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Balances with the Bank of England - - 1,369 1 - 1,3891 1,3881
Cash at bank and in hand - - 56 3 - 563 563
Investment secunties - - 3355 - 3355 3360
Loans to customers - - 10,5727 - 10,5727 10,5727
Fair value adjustments on portfolio hedging - - - - . -
Dervative financial instruments - 115 - - 15 15
Other financial assets - - 197 - 197 197
Total financial assets - 115 12,373 3 - 12,3848 12,3853
Liabilibes at fair Liabilihes at Total
value through  amortised Hedging carrying Faw
profit or loss cost adjustments value value
£m £m £m £m £m
Financial habilities
Amounts due to banks - 06 - 06 06
HM Treasury loans - 7.4656 - 74656 74656
Dernvative financial instruments 17 - - 17 117
Debt secunties in 1ssue - 250 1 - 2501 2834
Capital instruments - 41 - 41 41
Other financial labilities - 834 - 834 834
Total financial liabihties 117 7,803 8 - 7.8155 7,8488
Assets at
fair vaiue Total
Group Avallable- through  Loans and Hedging carrying Far
for-sale profit orloss recewvables adjustments value value
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Balances with the Bank of England - - 58711 - 58711 58711
Cash at bank and mn hand - - 669 5 - 669 5 669 5
Investment secunties 07 - 404 0 - 404 7 452 9
Loans to customers - - 25,365 4 14 25,3668 253668
Fair value adjustments on portfolto hedging - - - 532 532 -
Denwvative financial instruments - 2,0855 - - 20855 208556
Other financial assets - - 180 - 190 190
Total financial assets 07 2,0855 32,3290 54 6 34,4698 34,4648
Liabiities at farr  Liabilities at Total
value through amortised Hedging carrying Fair
profit or loss cost adjustments value value
£m £m £m £m £m
Financial habilities
Amounts due to banks - 16822 - 16822 16822
HM Treasury loans - 13,656 1 - 13,6561 13,6561
Dervative financial instruments 709 - - 709 709
Debt secunties in 1ssue - 14,520 4 2778 14,7982 15,2004
Capital instruments - 82 11 93 93
Other financial iabilities - 289 - 289 2889
Total financial hlabilittles 709 29,8958 2789 30,2456 306478
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Categories of financial assets and financial habiities carrying value compared te fair value (continued)

Assets at
fair value Total
Company Available- through Loans and Hedging carrying Fair
for-sale profit orloss recewables adjustments value value
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Balances with the Bank of England - - 1,389 1 - 1,389 1 1,389 1
Cash at bank and in hand - - 56 3 - 563 563
Investment secunties - - 3355 - 3355 336 0
Loans to customers - - 10,5727 - 10,5727 10,5727
Farr value adjustments on portfolio hedging - - - - - -
Denvative financial instruments - 16 - - 1.6 1.6
Other financial assets - - 196 - 19.6 196
Total financial assets - 16 12,373 2 - 12,374.8 12,3753
Liabilities at far Liabilities at Total
value through  amortised Hedging carrying Fair
profit or loss cost adjustments value value
£m £m £m £m £m
Financial habilities’
Amounts due to banks - 06 - 06 06
Other deposits - 370 - 370 370
HM Treasury loans - 74656 - 74656 T7,4656
Derivative financial instruments 17 - - 117 117
Debt secunties in i1ssue - 2041 - 2041 2375
Capttal instruments - 41 - 41 41
Qther financial liabilities - B34 - 834 834
Total financial hahilities 117 7,794 8 - 78065 78399
Assets at
farr value
Company Avallable- through profit  Loans and Hedging Total carrying Fair
for-sale orloss recewvables adjustments vatue value
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £fm £m £m £m
Financial assets
Balances with the Bank of England - - 58711 - 58711 58711
Cash at bank and in hand - - 5410 - 5410 5410
Investment secunties 07 - 404 0 - 404 7 452 9
Loans to customers - - 25,365 3 15 25,3668 25,3668
Farr value adjustments on portfolio hedging - - - 532 532 -
Denvative financial instruments - 1,150 5 - - 1,150 5 1,150 5
Other financial assets - - 18 8 - 18 8 18 8
Total financial assets 07 1,150 5 32,2002 54 7 334061 33,4011
Liabilittes at farr Liabilities at
value through amortised Hedging Total carrying Fair
profit or loss cost adjustments value value
£m £m £m £m £m
Financial habilitties
Amounts due to banks - 1,262 0 - 1,262 0 1,262 0
Other deposits - 87697 - 8,768 7 8,769 7
HM Treasury loans - 13,656 1 - 136561 136561
Denvative financial instruments 709 - - 709 709
Debt secunties in 1ssue - 5107 3 2779 53852 6,108 3
Capital instruments - 82 11 93 93
Other financial habilities - 286 - 286 286
Total financial habilities 709 28,8319 2790 29,1818 29,904 9
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Categories of financral assets and financial liabilities carrying vatue compared to fair value (continued)

No financial assets or habilities were reclassified during the current or previous year between amortised cost and farr value
categores

At 31 March 2016, assets camed at amortised cost which were previously carned at fair value were carmed at £335 5m (31
March 2015 £404 Om) The difference between the carrying value at the date of reclassification and the expected value at
the redemption date ts recognised in profit and loss on an effective interest rate basis over the expected lives of the assets,
their carrying amounts will accrete up to their redemption amounts over their expected hives The amount recognised 1 profit
and loss duning the year was a gain of £17 9m (12 months to 31 March 2015 £7 3m), which was exactly offset by losses
transferred from the avallable-for-sale reserve during the year If the assets had not been reclassified, i 1s estimated that fair
value losses of £8 2m would have been reflected in the avallable-for-sale reserve dunng the year In respect of these assets
(12 months to 31 March 2015 gamns of £25 5m) The expected redemption value of the remaining assets 1s £377 2m (31
March 2015 £481 5m) The fair value of these assets at 31 March 2016 was £3168 4m (31 March 2015 £436 2m) As
detailed in note 38(a}, on 30 April 2016 the Company transferred all of these assets to NRAM (No 1) Limited

{b) Interest income and expense on financial instruments that are not at fair value through profit or loss

Group
12 months to 12 months to
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m fm
Interest income 907 5 1,297 0
Interest expense (280 9) (522 2)
Net interest income 626 6 774 8

These amounts represent interest ncome and expense before hedging arrangements

{c) Impaired financial assets
Allowance accounts for credit losses in respect of iImpairment of loans to customers are detailed in note 13 and in respect of

investment securhes in note 11 No impairment loss has been recogmised in respect of any other class of financial asset,
and no other class of financial asset includes assets that are past due

(d) De-recogmition of financial assets

Loans to customers which have been secuntised are not de-recogrised from the Balance Sheet of the onginator of the loan
as the onginator retains substanhally all of the nsks and rewards of the secuniised loan (see note 24)

{e) Hedge accounting

Strategy in using denivative financial instruments

The Board has authonised the use of denvative instruments for the purpose of supporting the strategic and operational
business actvities of the Group and reducing the risk of loss anising in the Group or Company from changes in interest rates
and exchange rates All use of derivative instruments within the Group i1s to hedge nisk exposure and the Group takes no
trading positions in denvatives

The objective when using any denvative instrument is to ensure that the nsk-to-reward profile of any transaction 1s
optimised The intention 15 only to use denivatives to create economically effective hedges However, IAS 39 requires certain
tests to be satisfied before hedge accounting 18 permitted Consequently not all economic hedges are designated as
accounting hedges either because natural accounting offsets are expected, or because obtaining hedge accounting would
be especially onerous

{1} Fair value hedges

The Group designates a number of denvatives as far value hedges !n particular, the Group has three approaches

establishing relationships for

s Hedging the interest rate and foreign curency exchange rate nsk of non-prepayable, foreign currency denominated
fixed rate assets or llablities on a one-for-one basis with fixedffloating or floating/fixed cross currency interest rate
swaps

¢ Hedging the interest rate risk of a single currency portfolio of sterling, US Dollar or Euro non-prepayable fixed rate
assets/iabiibes on a one-for-one basis with vanilla fixedfloating or floating/fixed interest rate swaps

+ Hedging the interest rate nsk of a portfolio of prepayable fixed rate assels with interest rate denvatives This solution 1s
used to establish a macro far value hedge for denvatives hedging fixed rate mortgages The Group believes this
solution 1s consistent with its policy for hedging fixed rate mortgages on an economic basis
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

{e) Hedge accounting (continued)

(n) Cash fiow hedges

The Group designates a number of denvatives as cash flow hedges In particular, the Group adopts the following

approaches
» Using fixed interest rate swaps to hedge floating rate stering habilities

« To address the volatility generated by floatingffloating cross currency swaps, they are placed into cash flow hedges, the
accounting hedge relationship ts to hedge the foreign currency exchange rate nsk of the foreign currency denorminated

asset/iability

» Fixedfloating cross currency swaps are split into their separate nsk components and separately designated into cash

flow hedges

« Basis swaps are spht into their separate nsk components and separately designated into cash flow hedges

{in) Net investment hedges
The Group has not designated any denvatives as net investment hedges in 2015/16 or 2014/15

The Group had the following types of hedges

At 31 March 2016 Fairvalue Cashflow Economic Notional
hedges hedges hedges Total amounts
£m £m £m £m £m
Exchange rate contracts - - 11 111 100 4
interest rate contracts - - 04 04 40
Total asset balances - - 1156 115
Exchange rate contracts - - 73 73 2102
Interest rate contracts - - 4.4 44 605
Total hability balances - - 117 117
Fair value of hedging instruments - - {0 2) (0 2)
At 31 March 2015 Fair value Cash flow Economic Notional
hedges hedges hedges Total amounts
Em £m £m £m £m
Exchange rate contracts 71 20160 613 2,0844 11,6529
Interest rate contracts 11 - - 11 80
Total asset balances 82 20160 613 2,0855
Exchange rate contracts - - 32 32 454 4
Interest rate contracts 355 220 10 2 677 90324
Total labiity balances 355 220 134 709
Farr value of hedging instruments (27 3) 1,984 0 479 2,014 6
The Company had the following types of hedges
At 31 March 2016 Fairvalue Cashflow Economic Notional
hedges hedges hedges Total amounts
£m £m £m £m £m
Exchange rate contracts - - 12 12 443
Interest rate contracts - - 04 04 40
Total asset balances - - 16 16
Exchange rate contracts - - 73 73 2102
interest rate contracts - - 44 44 605
Total hability balances - - 117 117
Fair value of hedging instruments - - {10 1) {10 1)
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33. Fmancial instruments (continued)

(e} Hedge accounting (continued)

At 31 March 2015 Farr value Cash flow Economic Notional
hedges hedges hedges Total amounts
£m £m £m £m £m
Exchange rate contracts 71 10810 613 1,149 4 52045
Interest rate contracts 11 - - 11 80
Total asset balances 82 1,0810 613 1,150 5
Exchange rate contracts - - 32 32 454 4
Interest rate contracts 3556 220 102 677 99324
Total hability balances 355 220 134 709
Fair value of hedging instruments (27 3} 1,059 0 47 9 1,079 6
(f} Fair value measurement
Financial assets and habilities carned at fair value are valued on the following bases
Group
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Denvative financial instruments - 115 - 115
Financial labihbes
Denvative financial instruments - {(117) - {117)
Net financial habilities - (02) - (0.2)
Group
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Investment secunties - avalable-for-sale - 07 - 07
Derivative financial instruments - 2,0855 - 20855
Financial hlabilities
Derwvative financial instruments - (70 9) - E)!
Net financial assets - 20153 - 2,01563
Company
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 March 2016 £m Em £m £m
Financial assets
Denvative financial instruments - 16 - 16
Financial habilities
Denvative financial instruments - (117} - {117}
Net financial habilities - {10 1) - {10 1)
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

(f} Fair value measurement (continued)

Company

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Investment secunties - available-for-sale - 07 - 07
Denvative financial instruments - 1,150 5 - 1,150 5
Financial habiites
Denvative financial instruments - (70 9) - {709)
Net financial assets - 1,080 3 - 1,080 3

Level 1  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

Level2  Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, whether directly (1e as price) on
indirectly (1e derived from the implications of prices)

Level 3 Inputs for the asset or hability that are not based on observable market data, or have significant unobservable
Inputs

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 dunng the year (2015 none)

Available-for-sale investment secunties which are categonsed as Level 2 are those which are less frequently traded, hence
trade prices cannot always be relied on as evidence of farr value For such securities, far value is estmated by the
secunties' lead managers, taking into account recent trades, similar assets adjusted for credit spreads and where applicable
the underlying performance of assets backing the secunties (so uncbservable mputs are not considered signtficant) These
prices are reviewed against quoted pnces where available

Denvative financial instruments which are categorised as Level 2 are those which either

(a) Have future cash flows which are on known dates and for which the cash flow amounts are known or calculable by
reference to observable interest and foreign currency exchange rates, or

(b) Have future cash flows which are not pre-defined but for which the fair value of the instrument has very low sensitivity to
unobservable inputs

In each case the farr value 1s calculated by discounting future cash flows using observable market parameters inctuding
swap rates, interest rates and currency rates

For financial assets and habiities which are not carried at fair value, the fair values disclosed in note 33(a) are calculated on
the following bases

Group
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Balances with the Bank of England 1,3891 - - 1,389 1
Cash at bank and in hand 563 - - 563
Investment securities - 3360 - 3360
Loans to customers - - 10,5727 10,5727
QOther financial assets - 197 - 197
1,445 4 3557 10,5727 12,373 8
Financial hatahties
Amounts due to banks 06 - - 06
HM Treasury loans 7,465 6 - - 74656
Debt secunties In I1ssue - 2834 - 2834
Capital instruments - 41 - 41
Other financial habilities - 834 - 814
7,466 2 3709 - 7.8371
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

() Fair value measurement (continued)

Group
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Balances with the Bank of England 58711 - - 58711
Cash at bank and in hand 669 5 - - 669 5
Investment secunties - 452 2 - 452 2
Loans to customers - - 25,366 8 25,366 8
Other financial assets - 190 - 190
6,540 6 471 2 25,366 8 32,3786
Financial habilities
Amounts due to banks 1,682 2 - - 1,682 2
HM Treasury loans 13,656 1 - - 13,6561
Debt secunties in 1ssue - 15,200 4 - 15,200 4
Capital instruments - 93 - 93
Other financtal habilities - 289 - 289
15,338 3 15,238 6 - 30,576 9
Company
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Balances with the Bank of England 1,389 1 - - 4,389 1
Cash at bank and in hand 56 3 - - 563
Investment secunties - 3360 - 3360
Loans to customers - - 10,5727 10,5727
Other financial assets - 196 - 196
1,445 4 3556 10,5727 12,3737
Financial habilities
Amounts due to banks 06 - - 06
Other deposis 370 - - 370
HM Treasury loans 74656 - - 74656
Debt secunties in issue - 2375 - 2375
Capital instruments - 41 - 41
QOther financial habiliies - 8314 - 834
7,503 2 3250 - 7,828 2
Company
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m
Financral assets
Balances with the Bank of England 58711 - - 58711
Cash at bank and in hand 5410 - - 5410
Investment secunties - 452 2 - 452 2
Loans to customers - - 25,366 8 25,366 8
QOther financial assets - 18 8 - 18 8
64121 4710 25,366 8 32,249 9
Financial habilities
Amounts due to banks 1,262 0 - - 1,262 0
Other deposits 8,768 7 - - 8,769 7
HM Treasury loans 13,656 1 - - 13,656 1
Debt secunties in 1ssue - 6,108 3 - 6,108 3
Capital instruments - 93 - 93
Qther financial habihties - 286 - 286
23,687 8 6,146 2 - 298340
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33. Financial instruments (continued)

(f) Fair value measurement {continued)

Valuation methods for calculations of fair values in the table above are as follows

Balances with the Bank of England

Far value appreximates to carrying value because they have mimimal credit losses and are either short term in nature or
repnce frequently

Cash at bank and in hand

Fair value 1s esttmated by using discounted cash flows applying either market rates where practicable or rates offered by
other financial institutions for accounts with similar charactenstics The far value of fioating rate placements, fixed rate
placements with less than six months to matunty and cvernight deposits 1s estimated to be therr carrying amount

Investment secunties

The farr values of investment secunties held as loans and receivables are based on quoted prices or lead manager prices
where available or by using discounted cash flows applying independently sourced market parameters including interest
rates and currency rates The far value of unsecured investment loans 1s based on prices supplied by third parties

Loans to customers

Loans to customers include loans of varying rates and matunties Fair value 1s estimated by discounting expected future
cash flows using market interest rates Expected future cash flows take account of estunated future losses Market interest
rates are based on current lending activity in the mortgage market In respect of the majonty of the Group's fixed interest
rate loans, the change in interest rates since inception means that their far value can vary significantly from their carrying
value, however, as the Group’s policy 1$ 1o hedge fixed rate loans in respect of interest rate nsk, the Group has no matenal
exposure to this difference in farr value

Amounts due to banks and other deposits

Farr values of deposit habilities repayable on demand or with vanable interest rates are considered to approximate to
carrying value The farr value of fixed interest deposits with less than six months to matunty 1s estimated to be thewr carrying
amount The far value of all other deposit habilities is estimated using discounted cash flows, applying independently
sourced market parameters including nterest rates and currency rates

HM Treasury loans

The farr value 1$ estimated to be the carrying amount as the interest rate charged varnes in ine with changes in market rates
and the loans are considered to be repayable on demand subject to timing of repayment of loans to customers

Debt secunties i 1ssue and capital mmstruments

Fair values are based on quoted prices or lead manager pnces where available or by using discounted cash flows, applying
mdependently sourced market parameters including interest rates and currency rates

Other financtal assets and hahilities
Fair value approximates to carrying value because the balances are short term in nature

(g) Transferred financial assets

As set out In note 24 the Group/Company has transferred financial assets (loans and receivables) to secuntisation
structures The Group/Company retains all of the nsks and rewards associated with these loans and they are, therefore,
retained on the Group's/Company's Balance Sheets

The table below sets out the carrying values of the transferred assets and the associated habiities For securtisation
structures, the associated liabilities represent the external notes In 1ssue (see note 24} None of these notes have recourse
to the transferred assets

Group and Company Group

At 31 March 2016 Transferred assets Associated habihties
Carrying amount Carrying amount

£m £m

Loans to customers securitised - -
Group and Company Group

At 31 March 2015 Transferred assels Associated habihes
Carrying amount Carrying amount

£m £m

Loans to customers securnitised 21,747 2 14,559 9
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

{h) Offsetting

No financial assets have been offset against financial habiities Balances which are subject to enforceable master netting
arrangements or similar agreements are as follows

Group Gross and net amounts as  Amounts available to be offset (but Net amounts
reported on the Balance not offset on the Balance Sheet) after offsetting
At 31 March 2016 Sheet under IFRS 7
Master netting Financial
arrangements collateral
£m £m £m Em
Denvative financial assets 11.5 12 {04) 99
Derwative financial habiies {11.7} 12 89 (1.8}
(02) - 85 83

Group Gross and net amounts as Amounts available to be offset {(but Net amounts
reported on the Balance Sheet not offset on the Balance Sheet)  afier offsetting
At 31 March 2015 under IFRS 7
Master netting Financtal
arrangements cotllateral
£m £m £m £m
Dervative financial assets 20855 (22 9) (1,374 8) 687 8
Dervative financial habilities (70 9) 229 373 (107)
20146 - {1,337 5) 677 1
Company Gross and net amounts as  Amounts availabte to be offset (but Net amounts
reported on the Balance not offset on the Balance Sheet) after offsetting
At 31 March 2016 Sheet under IFRS 7
Master netting Financial
arrangements collateral
£m £m £m £m
Denvative financial assets 16 {12) (0 4) -
Denvative financial liabilities {(117) 12 89 {16)
{10 1) - 85 (1 6)

Company Gross and net amounts as Amounts available to be offset (but Net amounts
reported on the Balance Sheet not offset on the Balance Sheet)  after offsetting
At 31 March 2015 under IFRS 7
Master netting Financial
arrangements collateral
£m £m £m £m
Derivative financial assets 1,150 5 (22 9) (1,090 5) 371
Derivative financial labilities (70 9) 229 373 (10 7)
10796 - (1,053 2) 26 4
34 Collateral pledged and received
Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£m £m £m £m
Cash collateral which the Group/Company has 91 511 91 511
provided in respect of denvative contracts
Total collateral pledged 91 511 81 511
Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£m £m £m £m
Cash collateral which the Group/Company has 06 1,6822 06 1,262 0
recewed In respect of denvative contracts
Securnties collateral held - 16 4 - 16 4
Total collateral received 06 1,698 6 06 1,278 4
NRAM o7




Notes to the Financial Statements Annual Report & Accounts 2016

34 Collateral pledged and receiwved {continued)

In addition to the collateral amounts shown above, certain loans to customers provide secunty in respect of secuntised note
and Covered Bond funding as detalled in note 24 These loans, and also cash collateral pledged shown above, are carmed
on the Balance Sheet The hability to repay the cash collateral received 1s included within amounts due to banks in the
Balance Sheet In the absence of counterparty default, the Group has no night to sell or re-pledge the securties collaterat
recewed and, therefore, in accordance with the provisions of IAS 39 such securittes are not recognised on the Balance
Sheet

35 Financial nsk management

A description of the principal nisks to which the Group 1s exposed 1s provided on pages 7 to © which form an integral part of
the audited Financial Statements

{a) Credit nsk

Credit nsk 1s the potential for financial loss caused by a party failling to meet an obligation as it becomes due The Group
considers s most significant credit nisk to be the exposure to retar, commercial and wholesale counterparties faling to meet
their obligations As credit nsk is the main nsk to the Group, a credit nsk framework has been established as part of the
overall governance framework to measure, mibgate and manage credit nsk within sk appetite The Group closely monitors
its credit nsk agamnst the Board's credit policies

The maximum credit nsk exposure at the Balance Sheet date, before taking account of any collateral neting and other
credit enhancements, was as follows

Group Company
31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015 31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015
£m Em £m £m
On Balance Sheet
Balances with the Bank of England 1,389 1 58711 1,3891 58711
Cash at bank and in hand 563 6695 863 5410
Investment securities 3355 404 7 3355 404 7
Loans to customers 10,5727 25,366 8 10,5727 25,366 8
Denvative financial instruments 115 20855 16 1,150 5
Other financial assets 197 190 19 6 188
Total on Balance Sheet 12,384 8 34,4166 12,374 8 33,352 9
Off Balance Sheet
Loan commitments (see note 30) 417 3 1,246 1 417 3 1,246 1

Loans to customers include loans which are secured on property Additional information in respect of credit nisk 1s provided
in note 11 (for wholesale assets) and note 14 (for loans to customers)

The Board has approved a framework for maximum wholesale credit counterparty imuts against which total wholesale credit
exposures are continually monitored and controlled The credit imit structure adopts a nsk based matrnix whereby lower
rated counterparties are afforded lower overall levels of imit Although publicly available ratings produced by rating agencies
provide a useful guide to the crediworthiness of counterparties, an internal evaluation is also used in the hmit assignment
process Counterparties are assigned maximum hmis in accordance with the ratings matrix based on the lowest rating
afforded to any part of the counterparty group

For denvative financial instruments the Group uses a range of approaches to mitigate credit nsk, including internal contro!
policies, obtaining coliateral, using master netting agreements and other credit nsk transfers Denvative transactions with
wholesale counterparties are typically collateralised, in the form of cash or lughly kquid securities, under a Credit Support
Annex in conunction with the ISDA Master Agreement All outstanding positions are held with wholesale counterparties with
at a minimum of a BBB+ credit rating

Concentration risk

The Group has investments in a range of investment securties 1ssued by government bodies and banks, and n asset-
backed secunties, in both the UK and overseas At 31 March 2016 the Group had no UK Government secunties, bank or
supranational bonds (31 March 2015 £nil) 57% (31 March 2015 49%) of the asset-backed secunties are backed by UK
assets Further details in respect of concentrations in the wholesale assets porifolio are given in note 11

The Group operates pnmarly in the UK and adverse changes to the UK economy could impact all areas of the Group's
business Residential loans to customers are all secured an property in the UK 28% (31 March 2015 13%) of residential
loans to customers are concentrated in the buy-to-let market, the remaining balances are mainly secured on residential
owner-occupied properties

The residential loan book of £10 1bn (31 March 2015 £24 2bn) 1s geographically spread across the UK broadly in iine with
the country’s housing stock Consequently, there 15 a geographic concentration of mongages secured on properties in
London and the South-East representing 30% (31 March 2015 31%) of the baok

Within the commercial morigage porifolio there are 48 loans (31 March 2015 60) totaling £115 2m (31 March 2015
£136 7m), the largest 10 loans accounting for 84% (31 March 2015 75%) of the portfolio All of these loans are secured on
commercial and housing association properties
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35 Financial nsk management (continued)

{b) Liquidity risk

The Group and Company closely monitor therr iquidity position against the Board's hiquidity policy Mimmum and target
hquichty levels are established through stress testing and cash flow forecasting, faking into consideration an assessment of
any emerging and potentially extreme funding conditions

The table below analyses the Group's and Company's financial assets and habilities into relevant matunty groupings

After three After six After one
Within months months year but
Group On three but within  butwithin  within five After
demand months  six months one year years five years Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Balances with the Bank of England 1,388 6 05 - - - - 41,3891
Cash at bank and in hand 364 199 - - - - 563
Investment secunties 118 17 14 27 259 2920 3355
Loans to customers 153 2 529 373 675 6307 9,6311 10,5727
Fair value adjustments on portfolio
hedging - - - - - - -
Dervative financial instruments - 105 - 10 - - 115
Qther financial assets - 197 - - - - 197
Total financial assets 1,590 0 105 2 387 712 656 6 99231 12,3848
Financial hlabilities
Amounts due to banks 06 - - - - - 06
HM Treasury loans 74558 98 - - - - 74656
Denvative financial instruments - 10 63 - 17 27 17
Debt securittes in 1ssue - 50 2 - - 199 9 - 250 1
Capial instruments - 01 - 40 - - 41
Other financial habilities - B34 - - - - 834
Total financial habilities 7,456 4 144 § 63 40 2016 27 78155
After three After six After one
Within months months year but
Group On three but within but within within five After
demand months six months one year years five years Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Batances with the Bank of England 5,869 0 21 - - - - 58711
Cash at bank and in hand 188 3 481 2 - - - - 668 5
Investment secunties - 04 01 01 52 3989 404 7
Loans to customers 2259 513 580 114 3 1,254 1 236632 253668
Fair value adjustments on portfolio
hedging - 21 26 51 26 8 166 532
Denvative financial instruments - 1129 85 1917 37586 1,396 8 20855
Other financial assets - 190 - - - - 190
Total financial assets 6,283 2 668 0 69 2 3112 16617 254755 344688
Financia! labiities
Amounts due to banks 16822 - - - - - 1,682 2
HM Treasury loans 13,638 5 176 - - - - 136561
Denvative financial instruments - 30 63 14 4 216 256 709
Debt secunties in 1ssue - 1,7326 6338 1,144 5 8,805 9 24774 147982
Capital instruments - 02 - 45 46 - 93
Other financial habilities - 289 - - - - 289
Total financal habihties 15,3207 1,7823 640 1 1,163 4 8,836 1 25030 30,2456
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35 Financial risk management (continued)

{b} Liguidity nisk (continued)
After three After six After one
Within months months year but
Company On three but within but within  within five After
demand months  six months one year years  five years Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Balances with the Bank of England 1,388 6 05 - - - - 1,3891
Cash at bank and in hand 364 199 - - - - 56 3
Investment securities 118 17 14 27 259 2920 3355
Loans to customers 1532 529 3ra 675 6307 9,6311 10,5727
Fair value adjustments on portfolic
hedging - - - - - - -
Derwvative financial instruments - 0.6 - 10 - - 16
Other financial assets - 19.6 - - - - 196
Total financial assets 1,590 0 95,2 387 712 656 6 9,9231 12,3748
Financial habilities
Amounts due to banks 06 - - - - - 06
Other deposits 370 - - - - - 370
HM Treasury loans 7.4558 98 - - - - 74656
Dervative financial instruments - 1.0 63 - 17 27 117
Debt secunties in 1ssue - - - 42 1999 - 2041
Capital instruments - 0.1 - 40 - - 41
Other financial labiliies - 834 - - - - 834
Total financial habilities 7,493 4 94.3 63 82 2016 27 78065
After three After six After one
Within months months year but
Company On three but within But within  wathin five After
demand months six months one year years five years Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Balances with the Bank of England 58690 21 - - - - 58711
Cash at bank and in hand 598 481 2 - - - - 5410
Investment secunties - 04 01 01 52 3989 404 7
Loans to customers 2259 513 580 1143 1.254 1 23,6632 253668
Fair value adjustments on porifchio
hedging - 21 26 51 26 8 166 532
Denvative financial instruments - 1129 85 1917 3756 4618 1,1505
Other financial assets - 18 8 - - - - 18 8
Total firancial assets 6,154 7 668 8 69 2 3112 16617 245405 33,4061
Financial habilities
Amounts due to banks 1,262 0 - - - - - 12620
Other deposits 87697 - - - - - 87697
HM Treasury loans 13,638 5 176 - - - - 13,6561
Dernvative financial instruments - 30 63 14 4 2186 256 709
Debt secunties in 1ssue - 1,173 3 - 264 26254 16601 53852
Capital instruments - 02 - 45 46 - 93
Qther financial liabilities - 286 - - - - 286
Total financial habilities 236702 12227 63 453 26516 16857 29,1818

The matunty profiles in the above table do not reflect the transfer of certain assets and habilities to NRAM (No 1) Limited at
30 Apni 2016, as detalled in note 38(a) HM Treasury has indicated that It expects the loan provided to the Group to be
repaid out of the cash flows generated by the Group dunng its wind-down It is not possible to specify the contractual
matunty dates of the loan to the Group from HM Treasury and therefore it has been included in the table above as though

repayable on demand

Debt secunties in 1ssue include notes which secuntise foans te customers through SPVs These notes are repaid on a pass-
through basis In the above table, matunties of such notes are based on the expected repayment of notes which, 1n tum, are
denved from the expected redemption profiles of secuntised loans

In the above table, where dernivatives have been taken out in order to hedge morigage backed secuntised notes, the timings
of denvative payments are based on the expected repayment dates of the hedged notes
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35 Financial nsk management (continued)

(b} Liquidity nsk {continued)

Other assets and habilities are included 1n the above table according to the earliest date that payment can be contractually
demanded It should be noted that many financial instruments are settled earlier than their contractual matunty date, n
particular, many mortgage loans are repaid early, in full or in part

Assets and habilittes with a remaining period to contractual matunty of within one year are classed as current and those with
a remaming penod of more than one year are classed as non-current Non-financial assets and habibties of the Group and
Company amount to £230 2m and £394 9m respectively {31 March 2015 £154 4m and £514 1m) of which £0 8m and
£214 5m respectively are classed as current (31 March 2015 £1 1m and £56 Om} and £229 4m and £180 4m respectively
are classed as non-current (31 March 2015 £153 4m and £458 1m}

Non-denvative cash flows

The table below analyses the Group’s and Company's non-denvative cash flows payable nto relevant penods The
assumptions used in the preparation of this table are consistent with those used m the matunty table on pages 69 and 70
The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash outflows, these differ from Balance Sheet values due to the
effects of discounting on certain Balance Sheet items and due to the inclusion of contractual future interest flows

After three After six After one
Within  months but months but year but

Group on three withinsix withinone  withunfive  After five

demand months months year years years Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial liabihties
Amounts due to banks 06 - - - - - 06
HM Treasury loans 7,455 8 98 - - - - 74656
Debt secunties in 1ssue - 503 0s 137 2459 - 3104
Capital instruments - 02 - 43 - - 45
Other financial habilties - 834 - - - - 834
Loan commitments 4120 02 02 02 19 28 417 3
Total 7,868 4 143 9 07 18 2 247 8 28 8,2818

After three After six After one
Within months but months but year but
Group On three within six within one within five After five
demand monihs months year years years Total

At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial habilities
Amounts due to banks 16822 - - - - - 1,682 2
HM Treasury loans 136385 1786 - - - - 13,6561
Debt secunties in 1ssue - 1,6858 6503 1,302 5 92306 37156 16,5848
Capital instruments - 02 02 43 43 - 90
Other financial habilities - 289 - - - - 289
Loan commitments 1,239 5 02 02 03 23 36 12461
Total 16,560 2 11,7327 6507 1,307 1 92372 3,7192 33,2071
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35 Financial nsk management (continued)

{b) Liguidity nsk {contnued)

After three After six After one
Within months but  months but year but
Company On three within six within one  within five After five
demand months months year years years Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial habihties
Amounts due to banks 06 - - - - 06
Other deposits 3ro - - - - - 370
HM Treasury loans 74558 98 - - - - 7,4656
Debt secunties in 1ssue - - - 128 2383 - 2511
Capital instruments - 02 - 43 - - 45
Other financial habihties - 834 - - - - 834
Loan commiiments 4120 02 02 02 19 28 417 3
Total 7,905 4 936 02 173 240.2 28 8,259 5
After three After six After one
Within months but months but year but
Company On three within six within one within five After five
demand maonths months year years years Total
At 31 March 2015 fm £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial iabilities
Amounts due to banks 1,262 0 - - - - - 12620
Other deposits 87697 - - - - - 8,7697
HM Treasury loans 13,8385 176 - - - - 13,656 1
Debt secunties in 1ssue - 1,114 2 01 152 2 28917 1,446 3 5,604 5
Capital instruments - 02 02 43 43 - 890
OCther financial habiities - 286 - - - - 286
Loan commitments 1,239 5 02 02 03 23 36 1,246 1
Total 249007 1,160 8 05 156 8 2,898 3 14499 30,5760

Denvative cash flows

The following table analyses cash outflows for the Group's and Company's denvative financial habihhes The amounts are
allocated into relevant periods using assumptions consistent with those used in the preparation of the matunty table on

pages 69 and 70

After three After six After one
Within months but  months but year but
Group and Company On three within six within ona  within five After five
demand months months year years years Total
At 31 March 2018 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Derwvative financial habilities to
be settled on a net basis - 05 03 06 22 12 48
Denvative financial iabilities to
be settled on a gross basis
- outfiows - - 793 01 08 36 838
- inflows - {02) (73 0) {0 1) {07) {3 4) (77 4)
Total - 03 66 06 23 14 112
After three After six After one
Within months but  months but year but
Group On three within six within one within five After five
demand months months year years years Totai
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Denvative financial lrabilities to
be settled on a net basis - 58 55 98 372 63 646
Dervative financial habihties to
be settled on a gross basis
- outflows - - - - 01 84 85
- Inflows - - - {01) (0 2) (80) 83)
Total - 58 55 97 371 67 64 8
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35 Fminancial nsk management (continued}

{c) Market rnisk

The following table descnbes the significant activities that were undertaken by the Group pnior to nationalisation and which
currently give nse to financial or market nsk, the potential consequences associated with such activites and the denvative
instruments used by the Group to mitigate the nsks ansing

Activity

Risk

Type of denivative instrument used

Legacy funding in sterling invalving erther fixed
rate instruments or mstruments with embedded
options

Sensitivity to changes in interest
rates

Interest rate swaps

Fixed and capped rate mortgages and legacy
investments involving either fixed rate
instruments or instruments with embedded
options

Sensitivity to changes in interest
rates

Interest rate swaps and options

Vanable rate mortgage balances

Sensitivity to changes in interest
rates

Interest rate swaps

Legacy investments and funding n foreign
currencies

Sensitivity to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates

Cross-currency interest rate swaps
and foreign exchange contracts

Interest rate swaps

The nottonal principal amounts of the cutstanding interest rate swap contracts in Cash Flow Hedge Relationships {CFHR")
at 31 March 2016 were £ni} (31 March 2015 £9 5bn), for Group and Company
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35 Financial nsk management (continued)

(c) Market nsk (continued)
Cross currency swaps

The notional pnncipal amounts of the outstanding cross currency swaps in an eligible CFHR as at 31 March 2016 were £nil
in the Group (2015 £10 8bn) and £nil in the Company (2015 £4 3bn)

The accounting policy for denvatives and hedge accounting 1s descnibed in note 1(h), and further details of hedge
accounting are provided in note 33(e)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate nsk typically anses from mismatches between the repricing dates of interest-beanng assets and habiities on
the Group’s / Company’'s Balance Sheet and from the investment profile of the Group's/ Company’s capital and reserves
The Finance & Investment Director 1s responsible for managing this exposure within the nsk exposure hmits set out in the
Market Risk policy, as approved by the Board This policy sets out the nature of the market nsks that may be taken along
with aggregate nisk imits, and stipulates the procedures, instruments and controls to be used In managing market nsk

Market nsk 1s the potential adverse change in Group income or Group net worth ansing from movements in interest rates,
exchange rates or other market pnces Effective identification and management of market risk 1s essential for maintaining
stable net interest ncome

The Group / Company measures, monitors and controls the following interest rate nsks and sensitivities

Mismatch nsk
Curve
Prepayment risk
Basis nisk

Reset nsk

Exposures are reviewed as appropnate by senior management and the Board with a frequency between daily and monthly,
related to the granulanty of the pasition

Interest rate nsk exposure is predominantly managed through the use of interest rate denvatives, principally interest rate
swaps The Group / Company also uses asset and lability postions to offset exposures naturally wherever possible to
mimmise the costs and nsks of arranging transactions external to the Group / Company

Interest rate sensitivities are reported to ALCO monthly and are calculated using a range of interest rate scenarios, Including
non-parallel shifts i the yreld curve The main metncs used by management are

{1} the change n value of the Group’s net worth due to a notional 2% parallel move in market and base rates

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m
2% Increase {18 2) 64
2% decrease 229 28

() the sensitvity of the Group's interest margin over 12 months to a notional 2% parallel move in market and base rates

31 Mar 2016 31 Mar 2015

£m £m
2% increase 74 3 670
2% decrease {17 9} (14 8)

Foreign currency nisk

The Group's policy 1s to hedge ali matenal foreign currency exposures by use of naturally offsetting foreign currency assets
and habiltes or by the use of denvatives Consequently, at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015 the Group and Company
had no net matenal exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations or changes in foreign currency interest rates The impact
on the Group’s and Company's profit and equity of reasonably possible changes in exchange rates compared to actual rates
would not have been matenal at 31 March 2016 or 31 March 2015
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35 Financial nsk management (continued)

(c) Market nsk (continued)

Foreign currency nsk {continued)

The table below summarises the Group's and Company's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate nsk at the Balance
Sheet date Included in the table are the Group's and Company's financial instruments under the relevant currency
headings The amounts disclosed are the sterling equivalents of the notional amounts due on matunty, including interest
accrued at the Balance Sheet date, less any impairment provisions

Group

€ $ Other Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Cash at bank and in hand 61 142 - 20.3
Investment secunities 207 1 g3 - 215.4
Derivative financial ingtruments 312 (7 8) - 234
Total financial assets 244 4 147 - 259.1
Financial habilites
Dernvative financial instruments 2138 35 - 217.3
Debt secuntres In 1ssue 296 110 - 406
Total financial habilities 2434 145 - 257.9
Net currency gap 10 02 - 1.2
Group

€ $ Other Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Cash at bank and in hand 2620 2207 - 4827
Investment secunties 2677 102 - 2779
Denvative financial instruments 70782 4,3853 714 11,634 9
Total financial assets 7,607 9 4,616 2 714 12,2955
Financial iabilies
Amounts due to banks 546 8 2034 - 7502
Denvative financial mstruments (347 1) 48 8 - (298 3)
Debt secunties in 1ssue 74095 43635 714 11,844 4
Total financial iabiities 7,609 2 46157 714 12,296 3
Net currency gap (13) 05 - (08)
Company

€ $ Other Total
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Cash at bank and in hand 61 14 2 - 203
Investment secunties 2310 103 - 2413
Derivative financial instruments (22 3) {20 9) - {43.2}
Total financial assets 214 8 36 - 2184
Financial habilibes
Denvative financial instruments 2138 35 - 2173
Total financial habihties 2138 35 - 217.3
Net currency gap 1¢ 01 - 1.1
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35 Financial nsk management (continued)

{c) Market nsk (continued)
Foreign currency nsk {continued)

Company

€ $ Other Total
At 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Cash at bank and in hand 2620 2207 - 4827
Investment securthes 2677 102 - 2779
Derivative financial instruments 3,007 6 1,072 4 - 40800
Total financial assets 3,537 3 1,303 3 - 4,840 6
Financial iabilities
Amounts due to banks 4026 184 8 - 677 4
Denvative financial instruments {347 O) 572 - {293 8)
Debt secunties n Issue 3,401 3 1,050 6 - 44519
Total financial habilities 3,546 9 1,292 6 - 48395
Net currency gap (9 6) 107 - 11

36 Contingent habiltties

{a) As detalled in note 26, whilst the Court of Appeal provided clanty that loans greater than £25,000 were not covered
under the Consumer Credit Act, there i1s a nsk that individual customers could make claims against the Company This
could result in costs to NRAM where such claims are upheld [t 1s not possible to provide any meaningful estmate or range
of the possible cost

(b) A 2014 decision of the Supreme Court in the Plevin case held that the non-disclosure of commissions on a single
premium PPI policy made the relationship between the lender and the borrower unfair under section 140A of the Consumer
Credit Act 1974 The FCA 1s formally consulting on its position and has issued a preliminary statement which indicates that
if a firn faled to disclose commission which represents 50% or more of the premwm, customers may have to be
compensated No additicnal compensation 1s required where customers have already had a complaint handled and upheld
under the FCA's current PPl complaint handling rules At this stage, it 1s not possible to estimate reliably any potential
financial impact for NRAM

(¢) in October 2014 the Group sold a portfolio of standard mortgages for £1,576 8m Under the terms of the sale, the Group
provided certain warranties Any claim under these warranties must be made by August 2016 The Group’s maximum
liabhity under these warranties 1s hmited to £77 8m

{d} Under the terms of the Option Agreement dated 13 November 2015, the Company sold certain loans to Cerberus on 7
December 2015 and the Company provided certain warranties and indemnities to Cerberus On 5 May 2016 when NRAM
{No 1) Limited sold its 100% shareholding in the Company o Landmark Bidco Limited, NRAM (No 1) Limited became liable
for the warranties and indemnities which had been given by NRAM plc under the Option Agreement

(e) The Company has provided a number of financial guarantees to other NRAM Group companies The Directors believe
the probability that any claims will be made under these guarantees 1s remote and hence no provision has been made
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37 Ultimate controlling party

All shares in the Company were transferred to the Treasury Solicitor as nominee for HM Treasury on 22 February 2008 as a
result of The Northern Rock Transfer Order 2008 On 1 October 2010 all shares in the Company were acqutred via a share-
for-share exchange by UK Asset Resolution Limited, a private limted company incorporated and domiciled in the United
Kingdom, which 1s wholly owned by the Treasury Solicitor as nominee for HM Treasury Dunng the year and previous year,
and as at 31 March 2016, UK Asset Resolution Limited was the Group's ulimate parent undertaking and NRAM considered
the UK government to be its ultimate controling party UK Asset Resolutton Limited heads the largest and smallest group of
companies Iinto which these Financial Statements of NRAM are consolidated Copies of the financial statements of UK
Asset Resolution Limited may be obtained from the Company Secretary at Croft Road, Crossflatts, Bingley BD16 2UA The
results of the UKAR Group are consolidated into those of HM Treasury as presented in HM Treasury's Annual Report and
Accounts

As detalled in note 38(a), on 29 April 2016 all shares in the Company were acquired via a share-for-share exchange by
NRAM (No 1) Limited, a private imited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom, which 1s wholly owned
by UK Asset Resolution Limited On 5 May 2016, all shares in the Campany were acquired from NRAM {No 1) Lirmited by
Landmark Bidco Limited, a private limited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom The uitimate parent
company (s Cerberus European Residential Holdings B V whose registered office 1s at Qude Utrechtseweg 32, 3743 KN
Baarn, The Netherlands (incorporated under the laws of The Netherlands with registered number 62579533) Cerberus
European Residential Holdings BV 1s owned by certain investment funds managed and advised by Cerberus Capital
Management L P a global investment manager headquartered in New York City, USA and registered with the United States
Secunties and Exchange Commission

38 Events after the reporting period

{a) As detaded m note 12, on 13 November 2015 UKAR announced that NRAM had agreed to sell a £13bn asset portfolio
to affilates of Cerberus, which included £12bn of mortgages from the Granite securtisation structure plus a further £1bn
of non-Granite assets The sale of the Granite toans was recogrised in December 2015 when the beneficial interest of
those loans transferred to Cerberus As detailed in note 36(d), the Company provided certain warranties and indemnities
to Cerberus in connection with the sale

The second stage of this transaction completed in Apnl and May 2016 as follows

29 Apnl — the Company was acquired by NRAM {No 1) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary undertaking of UKAR, 1n a
share-for-share exchange

30 April — the Company declared a dwdend of £3,787 4m to NRAM (No 1) Limited and paid the dividend in specie, using
mortgage loans

30 Apnl — the Company transferred certain assets and liabilities to NRAM (No 1} Limited These assets and liabilities
were those that were not to be included in the asset penmeter of the sale to Cerberus and included al! of NRAM’s
investments 1n subsidiary undertakings, £9,947m of loans to customers, NRAM's 30 Aprl balances in respect of certain
bank accounts, investment securities, retirement benefit assets, HM Treasury loans, the EMTN debt secunties in 1ssue
and denvative financial assets and labilites These balances were transferred at ther carrying amounts and a net
balance owed to the Company by NRAM (No 1) Limited was left outstanding These balances have not been classified as
‘held for sale’ in the Company's 31 March 2016 Balance Sheet as at that date the balances were not availlable for
immediate sale in their current condition, substantial further condittons being required to be satisfied in order to complete
the sale

5 May — NRAM {No 1) Limited sold 100% of the shares of the Company to Cerberus At this point, HM Treasury ceased
its funding and guarantees to the Company Also at this point the Company’s liabilittes for the warranties and indemnities
to Cerberus described under paragraph (a) above ceased The hability for these warranties and indemnities to Cerberus
was instead assumed by NRAM {No 1) Limited

{b) On 25 Apnl 2016 the remaining debt securities 1ssued by Whinstone Caprtal Management Limited were redeemed
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